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PETROFAC LIMITED
FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

 Net profit™" up 58% to US$557.8 million (2009: US$353.6 million); net profit up 26% on a
like-for-like basis®

9 Earnings per share (diluted) up 57% to 162.46 cents (2009: 103.19 cents)

1 Revenue up 19% to USS$4.4 billion (2009: USS$3.7 billion)

f  Year-end backlog® up 45% at US$11.7 billion (2009: USS$8.1 billion)

f Final dividend 30.00 cents (18.42 pence™); full year dividend up 22% to 43.80 cents
(2009: 35.80 cents)

1 As part of the EnQuest demerger in April 2010, distribution of one EnQuest share for every
Petrofac share with a fair value of 160.08 cents per share

1 Gross cash balances at 31 December 2010 of USS$1.1 billion (2009: USS$1.4 billion),
augmented by receipt of US$0.7 billion of cash advances in January 2011

1 Medium-term Engineering & Construction net margin guidance raised 100 bps

Commenting on the outlook, Ayman Asfari, Petrofac’s group chief executive, said:

“l am delighted to present another excellent set of results. 2010 has been an exceptional
year for us, with a record intake of new orders, which gives us outstanding revenue visibility
and brings exciting opportunities for us to develop our capability and to deliver it into new

markets.

“With this strong financial underpinning, our differentiated and competitive offering and our
proven excellence in project execution, we are confident that we will continue to deliver
superior value for our customers and sector-leading returns for our shareholders, with like-

for-like net profit growth in 2011 of at least 15%.”

Petrofac Limited, contact through Petrofac Services Limited, 4 Floor, 117 Jermyn Street, London SW1Y 6HH, UK
Tel +44 20 7811 4900 Fax +44 20 7811 4901 1

Registered No. 81792 Registered Address: Ogier House, The Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 9WG
www, petrofac. com



Petrofac @

2010 OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Engineering & Construction

)l
)l

Excellent operational performance, including the substantial completion of 5 large EPC projects
Order intake of US$6.0 billion, including the USS$3.4 billion EPC phase of the South Yoloten

project in Turkmenistan and our first major project in Iraq

Offshore Engineering & Operations

1

Awarded our first predominantly lump-sum EPC project in the UKCS, the Laggan Tormore gas
processing plant for Total on Shetland, worth in excess of £500 million
Expanded our international operations with the award of a 5 year duty holder contract for the

Government of Sharjah in the United Arab Emirates

Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions

1

Acquired TNEI, a specialist consultancy providing services in the areas of power transmission
and distribution, planning and environmental consent and energy management

Established new training facilities in Syria and Algeria to help develop local workforces
Successfully transitioned to assume full operational responsibility for the Ticleni fields in
Romania under a 15 year production enhancement contract

Acquired a 15% equity stake in Seven Energy, a Nigerian production and development company,

and entered into a strategic alliance agreement to assist in developing its assets

Energy Developments

T

Completed EnQuest demerger with Don investment generating an IRR from inception to
demerger of approximately 35%

Field Development Programme approved for the second phase of the Cendor field in Malaysia
Secured USS$800 million Risk Services Contract (Petrofac share 50%) to develop the Berantai
field, offshore Malaysia

Acquired CO,Deepstore, a developer of CO2 storage projects, and partnering with Shell on the

Goldeneye CO2 storage prospect
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PROSPECTS FOR 2011

The significant political changes across the Middle East and North Africa have, to date, had a
minimal impact on our day to day operations. Of the countries substantially affected, Tunisia is
the only one in which Petrofac has current operations and production at our Chergui facility has
returned to normal after short periods of being shut-in. Managing country risk has always been an
important part of operating in the region and we continue to monitor the evolving political
situation closely to ensure that the interests of our employees, stakeholders and investors are

safeguarded.

Engineering & Construction

We entered 2011 with a record backlog in Engineering & Construction of US$9.0 billion, which has
been augmented by the award of the US$1.2 billion In Salah Gas project in Algeria in January,
giving us outstanding revenue visibility for the coming year and beyond. As a result, our immediate
focus is on ensuring that we continue our excellent operational performance across our portfolio of
projects. Given the terms of our existing backlog, our confidence in our execution capability, and
our competitive positioning in our core and developing markets, we are raising our medium-term

net margin guidance from around 10% to around 11%.

Offshore Engineering & Operations

Our recent awards in Offshore Engineering & Operations should underpin strong revenue growth in
2011. We expect recent high levels of bidding activity, both in the UK and internationally, to
continue, which should present us with further opportunities for growth. Notwithstanding the
improvement in net margin achieved in 2010, we see opportunities to improve net margins further

over the medium-term.

Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions

As well as supporting the group’s wider activities, we expect Engineering Services to see more
opportunities with external customers in 2011. Delegate numbers in Training Services improved as
2010 progressed and we expect this trend to continue throughout the course of this year. We
continue to review strategic opportunities for establishing new training facilities and developing
local workforces. Following the award of the Ticleni production enhancement contract in July
2010, and an improvement in general market conditions for our consultancy and technology
businesses, we expect to deliver strong revenue growth in Production Solutions in 2011. Given the
change in scope of our services on Dubai’s offshore oil & gas assets (now accounted for through
Offshore Engineering & Operations), and given that we do not expect to recognise profit on the
Ticleni contract until next year due to the long-term nature of the contract, we forecast a

reduction in overall net profit for this reporting segment in 2011.
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Energy Developments

With the award of the risk services contract for the development of the Berantai field and delivery
of the FPSO, and commencement of the second phase of the Cendor field, we expect a significant
increase in capital expenditure in 2011. Our current capital commitments are around US$500
million for 2011.

Ends

Analyst presentation:
A presentation for analysts will be held at 9.30am today, which will be webcast live via

http://www.investorcalendar.com/IC/CEPage.asp?ID=163402.

For further information, please contact:
Petrofac Limited +44 (0) 20 7811 4900

Jonathan Low, Head of Investor Relations

Tulchan Communications Group Ltd +44 (0) 20 7353 4200
James Bradley

David Allchurch

Martin Robinson

petrofac@tulchangroup.com
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Notes to Editors

Petrofac is a leading international provider of facilities solutions to the oil & gas production and
processing industry, with a diverse customer portfolio including many of the world’s leading
integrated, independent and national oil & gas companies. Petrofac is quoted on the London Stock
Exchange (symbol: PFC) and is a constituent of the FTSE 100 Index.

The group delivers services through seven business units: Engineering & Construction, Engineering
& Construction Ventures, Engineering Services, Offshore Engineering & Operations, Training

Services, Production Solutions and Energy Developments.

Through these businesses Petrofac designs and builds oil & gas facilities; operates, maintains and
manages facilities and trains personnel; enhances production; and, where it can leverage its
service capability, develops and co-invests in upstream and infrastructure projects. Petrofac’s

range of services meets its customers’ needs across the full life cycle of oil & gas assets.

With around 14,000 employees, Petrofac operates out of six strategically located operational
centres, in Aberdeen, Sharjah, Woking, Chennai, Mumbai and Abu Dhabi and a further 20 offices
worldwide. The predominant focus of Petrofac’s business is on the UK Continental Shelf (UKCS),
the Middle East and Africa, the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) and the Asia Pacific

region.

For additional information, please refer to the Petrofac website at www.petrofac.com.
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(The attached is an extract from the group's Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31
December 2010.)
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Our operations are organised into seven business units, which report under four segments:

Business unit

Reporting segment

Engineering & Construction
Engineering & Construction Ventures

> Engineering & Construction

Offshore Engineering & Operations

> Offshore Engineering & Operations

Engineering Services
Training Services
Production Solutions

Engineering, Training Services and Production
Solutions

Energy Developments

> Energy Developments

We present below an update on each of the group’s reporting segments:

USS millions Revenue
2010 2009
Engineering & Construction 3,253.9 2,509.0
Offshore Engineering &
Operations 7219 626.7
Engineering, Training Services
and Production Solutions 355.3 349.7
Energy Developments 188.2 248.7
Corporate, consolidation & (1 65 1) (78 7)
elimination ) )
bbbbbbbb  bbbbbbbb
Group 4,354.2 3,655.4
SSSSSSSSMISSSSSSSS)

Growth/margin analysis Revenue growth
%

2010 2009
Engineering & Construction 29.7 25.9
Offshore Engineering &
Operations 15.2 (19.3)
Engineering, Training Services
and Production Solutions 1.6 (31.5)
Energy Developments (24.3) 62.1

bbbbbbbb bbbbbbbb

Group 19.1 9.8

SSSSSSSCRNSS S SS

! Profit from operations before tax and finance costs.

Operating profit'" Net profit'? EBITDA
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
restated restated

438.9 312.4 373.0 265.1 | 474.3 337.3
24.5 17.8 17.2 12.8 27.3 19.7
26.6 34.5 27.6 32.4 34.7 42.6
191.2 77.4 156.4 46.2 | 241.0 160.9
17.7) (10.1) (16.4) (2.9) | (17.9) (10.8)
bbbbbb bbbbbb bbbbbb  bbbbbb | bbbbbb bbbbbb
663.5 432.0 557.8 353.6 | 759.4 549.7
850539 890550 55050 S0e000 | 99550 80550

Operating margin Net margin EBITDA margin

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

13.5 12.5 11.5 10.6 14.6 13.4
3.4 2.8 2.4 2.0 3.8 3.1
7.5 9.9 7.8 9.3 9.8 12.2
101.6 311 83.1 18.6 128.0 64.7
bbbbbb bbbbbb bbbbbb bbbbbb bbbbbb bbbbbb
15.2 11.8 12.8 9.7 17.4 15.0

SSSSSSEE - SoSSSRER S SSSSRNS SS S S SRS SSSSS RS S S S S S

2 Profit for the year attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholders.
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Engineering & Construction

The Engineering & Construction reporting segment includes the group’s Sharjah-based
Engineering & Construction business unit and Engineering & Construction Ventures, which has
been established to target new markets, such as Abu Dhabi, Saudi Arabia, and Turkmenistan.
Engineering & Construction generally undertakes engineering, procurement and construction
projects on a lump-sum basis, with a typical duration of between two to four years, and is
focused on markets in the Middle East, Africa, Asia-Pacific and the Commonwealth of
Independent States, particularly the Caspian region.

Order intake in 2010 exceeded USS$6.0 billion. This includes our largest ever award, of USS$3.4
billion, for the second phase of our contract with Turkmengas on the South Yoloten project in
Turkmenistan, as well as contracts in Qatar, Kuwait and Malaysia.

We have delivered good progress on our current portfolio of contracts including the handover or
substantial completion of the following:

1 in Syria, we completed and commissioned the Ebla gas plant for PetroCanada in April 2010,
two months ahead of schedule, earning an early completion bonus. We have also completed
and commissioned the Jihar gas plant for the Hayan Petroleum Company (a joint venture
between the state-owned Syrian Petroleum Company and INA Industrija Nafte d.d.-Naftaplin
of Croatia)

1 in Oman, we completed the Harweel cluster development project for Petroleum
Development Oman (PDO), achieving the introduction of hydrocarbons in January 2011

1 in Kuwait, we substantially completed the Mina Al-Ahmadi refinery pipelines project for
Kuwait Oil Company (KOC), which was awarded in November 2008

1 in Algeria, we made good progress on the In Salah gas compression project for Sonatrach,
BP and Statoil. Two of the three fields are now in operation and the compression facility
and power generation on the Krechbah field were substantially completed by the end of the
year

We were awarded the following principal contracts during the year, on which initial progress has
been in line with our expectations:

Gas sweetening facilities, Qatar

In March 2010, we were successful in securing an award for gas sweetening facilities in Qatar from
Qatar Petroleum. The contract, for more than US$600 million, includes the engineering,
procurement, installation and commissioning of gas sweetening facilities in Qatar’s Messaieed and
Dukhan industrial districts. The project includes a sulphur recovery upgrade in Messaieed and an
acid gas recovery plant in Dukhan. Work on the projects is due for completion within 38 months.

Pipelines from Mina Al-Ahmadi to power stations, Kuwait

In July 2010, we were awarded a US$400 million contract by Kuwait Qil Company for EPC services
for the installation of fuel gas and gas oil pipelines from Mina Al-Ahmadi to the Azzour and Shuaiba
Power Stations in Kuwait. The project follows on from the pipelines contract referred to above and
is expected to last approximately two years.

Water injection project, Kuwait

In August 2010, we were awarded a further EPC project by KOC for US$430 million for effluent
water and sea water injection facilities. The project involves the installation of a new central
injection pumping facility and modifications to three existing gathering centres and seawater
treatment plant. When completed, both effluent water and sea water will be fed into a central
injection pumping facility and injected into the wells with the objective of increasing oil recovery
from the Raudhatain and Sabriyah fields. Completion is estimated within 36 months.
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South Yoloten development, Turkmenistan

In December 2010, we commenced the second phase of the South Yoloten contract, worth US$3.4
billion, for Turkmengas, the state-owned national gas company of Turkmenistan. This followed the
completion of the first phase of the project, which involved a front end engineering and design
(FEED) study and early engineering work for the gas processing development. The second phase of
the contract is scheduled to last 31.5 months, during which time we will provide engineering,
procurement and commissioning work on a lump-sum basis for a 10 bcma gas processing plant along
with the infrastructure and pipelines for the entire 20 bcma development. The structuring of this
contract in two phases was important for risk mitigation and the work completed in phase one
gives us a higher level of confidence that we can execute the project in accordance with our high
standards.

SEPAT offshore early production system, Malaysia

In December 2010, we secured an award for the engineering, procurement, construction,
installation and commissioning of an offshore early production system on the east coast of
Peninsular Malaysia. The contract, worth approximately US$280 million, was awarded by Petronas
Carigali Sdn Bhd. First oil is expected by the end of 2011 and the project is estimated to be
completed by April 2012.

Results

High activity levels, due principally to projects won in 2009 and late 2008, resulted in Engineering
& Construction growing revenues strongly by 29.7% to USS$3,253.9 million (2009: US$2,509.0
million). The main contributors to revenue were: the El Merk central processing facility in Algeria;
the Asab project in Abu Dhabi; the Kauther gas compression project in Oman; the Mina Al-Ahmadi
refinery pipelines project in Kuwait, and the Karan utilities package in Saudi Arabia.

Net profit increased by 40.7% to USS$373.0 million (2009: US$265.1 million), representing a net
margin of 11.5% (2009: 10.6%). The increase in net margin is due to continued strong operational
performance, including the delivery of a number of projects during the year, and first time profit
recognition on a number of projects. A variation order on a project agreed in the first half of 2010
was not reflected in the interim results, leading to an understatement of revenue by US$35 million
and net profit by US$32 million. These amounts have been recognised in the second half of 2010
and therefore there is no overall financial impact on the reported results for the year ended 31
December 2010.

Over the year, Engineering & Construction grew its headcount from 4,200 to 5,400, in response to
the record intake in 2009 and in anticipation of our largest ever award, in Turkmenistan. In
addition, headcount in our engineering offices in Mumbai and Chennai, which principally support
our Engineering & Construction activities - although they are reported within our Engineering,
Training Services and Production Solutions segment - also grew strongly. At 31 December 2010, we
had approximately 1,600 employees in our Indian offices (2009: 1,300).

At 31 December, the Engineering & Construction backlog stood at a record US$9.0 billion (2009:
USS6.2 billion), reflecting the high level of order intake during the year.
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Offshore Engineering & Operations

Offshore Engineering & Operations provides engineering and construction services at all stages
of greenfield and brownfield offshore projects. In addition, through the provision of operations
management services, we deliver production and maintenance support and extend field life.
Offshore Engineering & Operations’ activities are primarily in the UKCS and are predominantly
provided on a reimbursable basis, but often with incentive income linked to the successful
delivery of performance targets. Many of our operations contracts are long-term (typically
three to five years) and in the case of the provision of Duty Holder services® are often open-
ended.

Activity levels in Offshore Engineering & Operations improved in 2010 due to the commencement of
work on major contracts awarded in 2009, good bidding success and a general improvement in
market conditions. Our strong record of operational performance, company-wide capability and
established presence in core markets helped us achieve an order intake of US1.6 billion, taking
backlog to record levels of USS$2.4 billion. The key awards secured were:

Sharjah Government Duty Holder contract, UAE

In October 2010, we secured a Duty Holder contract to provide a full range of facilities
management services to the Government of Sharjah on the Sajaa Gas Plant and related assets. This
contract, which furthers our aim to grow the Offshore Engineering & Operations business
internationally, will run for five years and is worth more than US$250 million.

Laggan Tormore EPC contract, UK

In October 2010, we won an engineering, procurement, supply, construction, commissioning and
start-up contract with Total for the development of a gas processing plant on the Shetland Islands.
Offshore Engineering & Operations will develop this facility, supported by Engineering &
Construction. This is the first time that we have secured a predominantly lump-sum EPC contract in
the UK. The contract is worth more than £500 million, with first gas expected in Q2 2014.

Maersk Oil engineering services contract, UK

In November 2010, we were awarded a contract worth £40 million over three years for the
provision of engineering services to the UKCS assets of Maersk Oil. The contract includes three one-
year options for extension, and broadens Petrofac’s scope of services for these assets, building
upon the offshore operations and support services we have been providing since 2000.

In addition to securing these new awards, we have been successful in extending a number of our
operations and maintenance contracts with both oil majors and independents. These include a five-
year agreement with BHP Billiton to provide operations and maintenance personnel support for the
Liverpool Bay Development in the Irish Sea and a five-year extension to our operations and
maintenance support contract with CNR International in the North Sea.

From October 2010, the technical services agreement with the Government of Dubai was reported
through the Offshore Engineering & Operations reporting segment (having previously been reported
through Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions). The transition from having
operational control over these assets to the new technical services agreement was effected
smoothly.

Acquisitions

We successfully completed two small acquisitions in 2010 which broaden our capability: Scotvalve
Services Limited, which provides servicing and repair for oilfield pressure control equipment, and
Stephen Gillespie Consultants Limited, which designs and manufactures metering systems (see note
10 to the financial statements).
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Results

Reported revenue for the year increased by 15.2% to US$721.9 million (2009: US$626.7 million) and
revenue excluding ‘pass-through’ revenue® increased by 20.6% to US$526.4 million (2009:
USS$436.4 million), reflecting the commencement of major contracts secured in the second half of
2009 and a general improvement in the operating environment. Approximately 90% of Offshore
Engineering & Operations’ revenue is generated in the UKCS, with these revenues generally
denominated in sterling. The average US dollar to sterling exchange rate for 2010 was broadly
similar to the rate for 2009.

Net profit increased by 34.5% to US$17.2 million (2009: USS$12.8 million), again reflecting increased
activity levels. Net margin on revenue excluding pass-through revenue increased to 3.3%, compared
to 2.9% in 2009, driven by new higher margin contracts.

Over the year, Offshore Engineering & Operations grew its headcount from 4,100 to 4,400, mostly
attributable to the staff added on new contracts, including Laggan Tormore and the Sharjah
Government Duty Holder contract.

Backlog for Offshore Engineering & Operations increased to a record high of USS$2.4 billion at 31
December 2010 (2009: US$1.6 billion). This includes approximately half of the backlog booked in
relation to the Total EPC contract awarded in October 2010. The remainder of the backlog has
been booked by Engineering & Construction, as it will support Offshore Engineering & Operations
on the project.
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Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions

The Engineering Services, Training Services and Production Solutions business units are
reported together within this segment.

Engineering Services provides early stage engineering studies, including conceptual studies and
FEED studies, primarily on a reimbursable basis. Engineering Services has two offices in India - in
Mumbai and Chennai - which primarily support Engineering & Construction and a UK office in
Woking which is more externally focused. Activity levels were significantly higher at our Indian
offices in 2010, reflecting Engineering & Construction’s increased demand for the unit’s services,
resulting from the reporting segment’s record backlog entering into 2010 and its contract wins
throughout the year. At our Woking office activity levels were marginally lower. Utilisation rates
rose across all three offices throughout 2010.

Training Services provides competence-led training services, consultancy and managed solutions
which are designed to increase competence and minimise risk. Services are provided primarily on a
reimbursable basis. Delegate numbers were slightly higher than in 2009, and we saw strong growth
from international markets, including our facilities at Sakhalin Island, Russia, and Baku,
Azerbaijan. In October 2010, our training centre located near Homs in Syria was opened at a
ceremony attended by the Syrian Prime Minister. The facility, which Petrofac will operate for five
years, will deliver operations and maintenance training for Syrian graduates joining the oil & gas
industry.

Training Services remains focused on strategic business development opportunities, both in the UK
and internationally. Demand for our Training Services business is driven by a number of factors,
including the ‘nationalisation’ of government workforces, the ageing of the industry’s personnel
and the potential increase in industry regulation in the wake of the Gulf of Mexico incident; these
provide us with interesting medium to long-term opportunities.

Production Solutions provides customers with a wide range of services to help improve production,
profitability, operational efficiency, asset integrity and the recovery of their reserves. In addition
to providing these specialist services on a stand-alone basis, we are increasingly offering customers
these services packaged together where we are remunerated on a tariff or quasi-equity basis. We
were awarded our first such ‘production enhancement’ contract by Petrom in early July 2010.
Under the terms of the 15-year contract, which includes an option for extension by a further ten
years, Petrofac will provide production enhancement services to Petrom as the concession holder
for the Ticleni oilfield and its eight satellite fields in Romania. We will be paid a tariff per barrel of
oil produced, including an enhanced tariff for incremental production. Petrofac successfully
completed the transition to assume full operational responsibility for these fields in November
2010: average oil production volumes from the first two months of operation were around 2.3%
above baseline production.

In November 2010, Production Solutions entered into a strategic alliance with Seven Energy
International Limited (‘Seven Energy’), a Nigerian production and development company. Under
the terms of the agreement Petrofac agreed to invest US$100 million to acquire a 15% interest in
Seven Energy (12.6% on a fully diluted basis) and will assist Seven Energy with the development of
its production, processing and transportation assets. Seven Energy has also issued warrants which,
subject to the satisfaction of certain performance conditions and milestones in relation to project
execution, will enable us to invest up to a further US$52 million, and take our interest to 19.2% on
a fully diluted basis. Petrofac is providing experienced personnel to Seven Energy and is
represented on its Board and management committees. The opportunity to co-invest and co-
develop with Seven Energy, while deploying some of our own people, will give us the platform to
establish a local presence in Nigeria, a high growth market where we have been seeking
commercial opportunities for some years.

119



Petrofac @

In October 2010, following a successful three and a half years of our service operator contract for
Dubai Petroleum’s offshore oil & gas assets, we successfully completed the transition to a technical
services agreement with the Government of Dubai. The technical services agreement will be
reported through Offshore Engineering & Operations.

Acquisitions

Within Engineering Services, the acquisition of TNEI represents the first step in positioning Petrofac
in the renewable energy sector. TNEI was acquired in June 2010 for a total consideration of £6.1
million (see note 10 to the financial statements). TNEI is a specialist consultancy providing services
in the areas of power transmission and distribution, particularly in relation to offshore wind
projects, planning and environmental consent and energy management. TNElI has 50 staff in
Newcastle and Manchester. The acquisition further broadens Petrofac’s technical consulting
capacity.

Results

Reported revenue for the year was slightly higher at US$355.3 million (2009: US$349.7 million) as
was revenue excluding ‘pass-through’ revenue at US$322.8 million (2009: USS$309.7 million), with
an increase in revenues in both Engineering Services and Training Services being partially offset by
lower revenues in Production Solutions as a consequence of the transition of our role on the Dubai
Petroleum contract from service operator to a technical services agreement (and now accounted
for in Offshore Engineering & Operations).

Net profit was 14.8% lower at US$27.6 million (2009: USS$32.4 million), principally reflecting the
change in scope on the Dubai Petroleum contract. This was also the primary driver for net margin
on revenue excluding pass-through revenue falling to 8.5% (2009: 10.4%).

At 31 December 2010, headcount - including long-term contractors - was higher at 3,400 (2009:
2,900).The addition of approximately 900 Romanian workers on the Ticleni oilfield more than
offset the reduction in headcount that followed the transfer of Dubai Petroleum staff to the
Government of Dubai. We also continued to grow our Mumbai and Chennai offices, which are
reported through Engineering Services but predominantly support the businesses in our Engineering
& Construction reporting segment. We have recently decided to open a third Indian office in Delhi,
and expect to accomplish this during 2011.

Backlog for the Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions reporting segment was
unchanged at year-end, at USS0.3 billion (2009: USS0.3 billion). The main factors affecting backlog
related to Production Solutions, which saw order intake - primarily arising from the Ticleni contract
- offset by the change in scope on the Dubai Petroleum contract.
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Energy Developments

Where we can leverage our service capabilities to realise value, mitigate risks and reduce
costs, Energy Developments provides a fully integrated service for resource holders under
flexible commercial models that are aligned to their requirements. Projects cover upstream
developments, both greenfield and brownfield, and related energy infrastructure projects, and
can include the provision of capital.

In the first demonstration of our ‘build and harvest’ strategy, we completed the demerger of
Energy Developments’ UKCS assets, including its investments in the Don fields, in April 2010. These
assets were demerged to create EnQuest PLC, an independent company which subsequently listed
on the London and Stockholm stock exchanges. Our investment in the Don project generated a
capital gain of US$124.9 million and an internal rate of return from inception to demerger of
approximately 35%. We believe this transaction demonstrates the value of our ‘build and harvest’
strategy.

During the year, good progress was made on Energy Developments’ portfolio of operational assets
(Cendor, Ohanet, Chergui and the Kyrgyz Petroleum Company (KPC) refinery), as explored below:

Cendor PM304, Malaysia

Energy Developments operates the Cendor field, in Block PM304, offshore Peninsular Malaysia, in
which it holds a 30% interest. This interest was acquired in 2004 and is held by way of a production
sharing contract (PSC). Energy Developments’ partners on this field are PETRONAS, Kuwait Foreign
Petroleum Exploration Company (KUFPEC) and PetroVietnam, which hold interests of 30%, 25% and
15% respectively.

The Cendor field had another year of good performance, producing an average of 13,300 bpd of oil
(2009: 14,400 bpd) and achieving production uptime of over 99%. Production is now in decline as a
result of the natural decrease in field pressure. Energy Developments received approval for the
Field Development Programme (FDP) for the second phase of development of Block PM304 in
November 2010. This second phase will involve the replacement of the existing Mobile Offshore
Production Unit (MOPU) and Floating Storage and Offloading (FSO) vessel with a Floating
Production, Storage and Offloading (FPSO) vessel and fixed wellhead structures, designed to
increase production capacity to 35,000 bopd. Preparations for this second phase are progressing
well with the aim of beginning work in the first half of 2011.

Ohanet, Algeria

Energy Developments, in a joint venture with BHP Billiton (as joint venture operator), Japan
Ohanet Oil & Gas Co and Woodside Energy (Algeria), has invested more than US$100 million for a
10% share in a RSC with Sonatrach, Algeria’s national oil company. Through Engineering &
Construction, we undertook the EPC contract for the gas processing facilities in joint venture with
ABB Lummus and were responsible for part of the on-site commissioning works. As part of the RSC,
the joint venture contractors are reimbursed for development costs and their share of the project's
operating costs. The joint venture contractors’ return for undertaking this investment is earned by
way of remuneration equivalent to a percentage of the eligible development costs and our
entitlement is paid from the monthly liquids production; hence any changes in production will vary
the number of days over which the entitlement is earned.

Overall production was slightly lower than in 2009, averaging approximately 113,000 bpd of oil
equivalent (2009: 123,100 bpd of oil equivalent). On average, we earned our share of the monthly
liquids production by the 11" day of the month (2009: 15™), reflecting higher average oil & gas
prices, partly offset by slightly lower production rates. The RSC contract is due to expire at the
end of October 2011; eight years from first gas, over which time we expect to have earned our
defined return.
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Chergui field, Tunisia

In Tunisia, Energy Developments has a 45% operating interest in the Chergui gas plant. This
interest was obtained in 2007 from Entreprise Tunisienne d’Activités Pétrolieres (ETAP), the
Tunisian national oil company, which holds the remaining 55% interest. Energy Developments’
interest is held through a Concession. The commercial export of gas commenced in August 2008.
Produced gas is sold to the national gas company, Société Tunisienne de Lélectricité et du Gaz
(STEG), under a gas pricing formula fixed by existing law, in which the price of gas is linked to
free-on-board Mediterranean (FOB Med) fuel oil prices.

The Chergui gas plant produced an average of 27.77 million standard cubic feet per day (mmscfd)
of gas during the year (2009: 26.5 mmscfd), above the original nameplate design capacity of 20
mmscfd. A third production well was tied into the plant in early July 2010 to boost the production
rate and increase gas recovery: production in December 2010 was the highest recorded rate since
the start-up of the gas plant in June 2008. The development programme for 2011 includes the
commitment to drill two to three wells to increase reserves and to explore the production of oil, as
well as gas, from the field. Following recent civil unrest in Tunisia, we have had some short
unplanned shut-ins of production, but generally the plant is operating normally. We continue to
keep the situation under review.

KPC refinery, Kyrgyzstan

Energy Developments owns a 50% share in the Kyrgyz Petroleum Company (KPC) which is engaged in
the refining of crude oil and the marketing of oil products from the 10,000 bpd capacity KPC
refinery. KPC is jointly owned by Petrofac and Kyrgyzneftegaz, the state-owned oil & gas company
in the Kyrgyz Republic. Petrofac has managed KPC’s facilities and operations since 1998.

During 2010, the refinery performed in line with expectations, producing an average of
approximately 1,700 bpd (2009: 2,000 bpd), principally of gasoline, diesel and fuel oil. The
decrease in throughput was primarily due to civil unrest in the country, which shut down
operations and halted processing at the refinery in April and June 2010. On both occasions the
demobilisation of expatriate and local staff was deemed necessary.

FPF1 Floating Production Facility, undeployed

In July 2009, Energy Developments acquired a floating production facility, AHO01 (subsequently
renamed the FPF1), from Hess and Endeavour Energy UK. The FPF1 had been deployed on the Hess-
operated lvanhoe and Rob Roy Fields, in the UK North Sea, from 1989, with the Renee and Rubie
Fields produced over it since 1999. The vessel has a processing capacity of 45,000 bpd of oil and 56
mmscfd of gas with water injection capability of 90,000 bpd and water treatment of 40,000 bpd.

The vessel remains quayside at the McNulty offshore facility in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, while options
for its redeployment on fields, including those where Energy Developments has or can take an
interest, are considered. Several options for deployment, including in the UK North Sea, have been
identified and are being pursued with conceptual engineering and proposal preparation work. We
expect that a redeployment contract for the vessel will be secured in 2011. We are currently
completing general repair and upgrade work on the vessel, which will be followed by planned
specific dry-dock work to satisfy external verification requirements to obtain a class certificate.
This will enable the FPF1 continued operation in the harsh environment of the UK North Sea for ten
years, without the need for a special survey.

Gateway Storage Company Limited, UK

In December 2010, Energy Developments acquired a 20% interest in Gateway Storage Company
Limited (Gateway), to progress and develop the Gateway Gas Storage project in the East Irish Sea.
This project would add nearly 30% to the current gas storage capacity in the UK market, and has
secured the first gas storage licence from the UK Department of Energy & Climate Change in
February 2010. Petrofac joined Gateway as the technical project operator and is represented on
Gateway’s board.
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Berantai field development and East Fortune FPSO, Malaysia

In January 2011, Energy Developments signed a RSC to lead the development of the Berantai field,
offshore Peninsular Malaysia, for PETRONAS, Malaysia’s national oil company. Petrofac has a 50%
interest in the RSC, alongside our Malaysian partners Kencana Energy Sdn Bhd and Sapura Energy
Ventures Sdn Bhd, both of which hold a 25% interest (together known as the ‘Berantai partners’).
The Berantai partners will develop the field and will subsequently operate the field for a period of
seven years after first gas production.

The capital budget for the full field development, excluding delivery of the FPSO, is approximately
USS$S800 million, of which Petrofac’s share is 50%. Under the terms of the RSC, the Berantai partners
are expected to receive a rate of return linked to their performance against an agreed incentive
structure, including project costs, timing to first gas and sustained gas delivery measured six
months after project completion, with an ongoing incentive structure based on operational uptime.

Acquisitions

Petrofac completed the acquisition of CO,DeepStore in April 2010, a UK-based CO2 storage
company (see note 10 to the financial statements). The combination of CO,DeepStore and Petrofac
establishes a leading development capability for CO2 storage projects, providing a complete
service for power generators and other CO2 emitters.

In October 2010, CO,DeepStore signed an agreement with Shell U.K. Limited (Shell) for the re-
development of the Goldeneye gas field in the North Sea as a potential CO2 storage facility. The
agreement will see CO,DeepStore and Shell work together to develop the potential CO2 storage
solution for the ScottishPower Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) project. Work on the initial design
phase for the project is due to complete in the first half of 2011 and, subject to satisfactory
contract negotiations, achieve contract award later in the year.

Results

Energy Developments’ revenue was lower at US$188.2 million in 2010 (2009: US$248.7 million),
primarily due to the disposal of the Don assets following the April 2010 demerger. On a like-for-like
basis (excluding the contribution of the Don assets), Energy Developments’ revenue was marginally
higher at US$172.8 million this year (2009: US$170.4 million).

Including the gain on the EnQuest demerger, net profit for Energy Developments rose by 238% to
USS$156.4 million (2009: USS$46.2 million). Excluding this gain, despite the higher average oil price
in 2010 and notwithstanding the non-recurring NT/P68 write-off of US$3.7 million in the prior
year, the loss of contribution from the Don assets as well as lower production on Cendor meant
that profit was lower at US$31.5 million (2009: US$46.2 million). On a like-for-like basis (excluding
the contribution of the Don assets and the gain on the EnQuest demerger), trading net profit for
Energy Developments was US$29.4 million in 2010 (2009: US$33.5 million).

At 31 December 2010, headcount had grown to 600 (2009: 500).

An analysis of Energy Developments’ oil & gas reserve entitlements is presented on page 186.
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Financial review

Revenue

Group revenue increased by 19.1% to US$4,354.2 million (2009: US$3,655.4 million) due to strong
growth in Engineering & Construction and Offshore Engineering & Operations, partly offset by a
decrease in Energy Developments following the EnQuest demerger in April 2010. The strong growth
in the Engineering & Construction reporting segment (up 29.7%), which accounted for
approximately three-quarters of the group’s revenue, was as a result of high levels of activity on
lump-sum EPC contracts, particularly on those contracts awarded in 2009 and late 2008. The
increase in revenues in Offshore Engineering & Operations (up 15.2%) was as a result of activity on
major contracts awarded in the second half of 2009 and 2010 and a general improvement in market
conditions.

Operating profit

Group operating profit for the year was US$663.5 million (2009 restated: US$432.0 million), an
increase of 53.6%. Excluding the gain on the EnQuest demerger, group operating profit increased
by 24.7% to US$538.6 million (2009 restated: US$432.0 million) and operating margins increased to
12.4% (2009 restated: 11.8%). The increase in operating margin was predominantly due to an
increase in the operating margin in Engineering & Construction, but also higher operating margins
in Energy Developments and Offshore Engineering & Operations, partially offset by a reduction in
operating margin in the Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions reporting segment
and a decrease in the proportion of group operating margin generated by the high margin Energy
Developments reporting segment following the EnQuest demerger.

Net profit

Reported profit for the year attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholders increased 57.8% to
US$557.8 million (2009 restated: US$353.6 million). Excluding the gain on the EnQuest demerger of
US$124.9 million (2009: nil), profit for the year attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholders
increased to US$433.0 million (2009: USS$353.6 million), an increase of 26.4% on a like-for-like
basis'?. The increase was driven primarily by strong revenue growth in Engineering & Construction
along with an increase in net margin due to excellent operational performance, with good progress
on our portfolio of projects, including the completion or substantial completion of five large EPC
projects during the year and first time profit recognition on a number of projects. The net margin
for the group, excluding the gain on the EnQuest demerger, increased to 9.9% (2009: 9.7%), due to
net margin improvement in Engineering & Construction and Offshore Engineering & Operations,
offset by net margin reduction in the Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions and
Energy Developments reporting segments and an increase in net corporate and other costs. Net
corporate and other costs increased due to a reduction in intra-group interest income earned as a
result of Petrofac Limited capitalising a loan to Energy Developments as part of the EnQuest
demerger, corporate support costs incurred in relation to the demerger and an increase in other
shareholder related costs.

EBITDA

Reported EBITDA increased 38.1% to US$759.4 million (2009 restated: US$549.7 million). Excluding
the gain on the EnQuest demerger of US$124.9 million (2009: nil), EBITDA increased by 15.4% to
US$634.5 million (2009 restated: US$549.7 million), representing an EBITDA margin of 14.6% (2009
restated: 15.0%). Despite an increase in EBITDA margins in the Engineering & Construction and
Offshore Engineering & Operations reporting segments, only partially offset by lower margins in the
Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions and Energy Developments reporting
segments, the group EBITDA margin was lower due to a reduction in the share of group EBITDA,
excluding the effect of corporate, consolidation and elimination adjustments, from the higher
margin Energy Developments reporting segment following the EnQuest demerger (from 28.7% in
2009 (restated) to 17.8% in 2010). Engineering & Construction’s share of group EBITDA, excluding
the effect of corporate, consolidation and elimination adjustments, and the gain on the EnQuest
demerger, increased to 72.7% (2009 restated: 60.2%) due to strong revenue and margin growth in
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the Engineering & Construction reporting segment and the relative decrease in Energy
Developments’ contribution.

Backlog

The group’s combined backlog at the end of 2010 stood at record levels of US$11.7 billion (2009:
USS$8.1 billion), reflecting high levels of order intake during the year, both in Engineering &
Construction (US$6.0 billion) and Offshore Engineering & Operations (USS$1.6 billion).

Exchange rates

The group’s reporting currency is US dollars. A significant proportion of Offshore Engineering &
Operations’ revenue is generated in the UKCS and those revenues and associated costs are
generally denominated in sterling; however, there was little change in the average exchange rate
for the US dollar against sterling for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 and therefore
little exchange rate impact on our US dollar reported results. The table below sets out the average
and year-end exchange rates for the US dollar and sterling as used by the group for financial
reporting purposes.

Financial reporting exchange rates 2010 2009
USS$/Sterling

Average rate for the year 1.54 1.56
Year-end rate 1.56 1.62
Interest

Net finance income for the year was lower at US$5.1 million (2009: USS$6.4 million) due to lower
average net cash balances compared to the prior year (see ‘Operating cash flow and liquidity’).

Taxation

An analysis of the income tax charge is set out in note 6 to the financial statements. The income
tax charge for the year as a percentage of profit before tax was 16.5%. Excluding the gain from the
EnQuest demerger (upon which there was no chargeable gain for UK corporate tax purposes), the
income tax charge for the year as a percentage of profit before tax was marginally higher than the
prior year at 20.3% (2009 restated: 19.3%). The increase was due to Energy Developments’
effective tax rate (excluding the gain from the EnQuest demerger) which increased to 50.3% (2009:
30.8%) due to ring fence expenditure supplement no longer being available for claim following the
EnQuest demerger. Notwithstanding the adjustments made in the prior year in respect of the
applicability of the lower tax rate to the group’s projects in Oman, the Engineering & Construction
effective tax rate decreased to 16.8% (2009 restated: 18.8%) due to material changes in the
jurisdictions in which profits were earned.

Earnings per share

Fully diluted earnings per share increased to 162.46 cents per share (2009: 103.19 cents), an
increase of 57.4%, in line with the group’s increase in profit for the year attributable to Petrofac
Limited shareholders. Excluding the gain on the EnQuest demerger, fully diluted earnings per share
increased by 22.2% to 126.09 cents per share (2009: 103.19 cents).

Operating cash flow and liquidity

The net cash generated from operations was US$207.3 million (2009: USS$1,276.3 million),
representing 32.7% of EBITDA excluding the gain on the EnQuest demerger (2009: 228.3%). The
lower net cash inflow compared to the prior year was due principally to an unwinding of advance
payments received from customers in relation to Engineering & Construction projects, with the 20%
advance payment on our major award in Turkmenistan not being received until after the year-end,
and a build up of in work in progress. Much of the increase in work in progress related to one
Engineering & Construction project, where billing was delayed pending contractual amendments.
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The work in progress position on this project began to improve during the second half of 2010
following finalisation of the contractual amendments and we expect it to normalise over the
coming months.

At 31 December 2010, the group’s net cash was lower at US$975.3 million (2009: USS$1,300.1
million) as the net result of cash generated from operating profits before working capital and other
non-current changes of US$667 million, less:

1 net working capital outflows of US$S451 million, including a reduction in advance payments
received from customers and an increase in work in progress in relation to Engineering &
Construction projects, totalling US$491 million (in 2009 the group received net working
capital inflows of US$714 million, including US$439 million of advance payments on
Engineering & Construction projects)

7 investing activities of US$254 million, including:

o the investment of US$100 million to acquire a 15% stake in Seven Energy (12.6% on a
fully diluted basis; see page 30 for details)

o0 the acquisition of TNEI, CO,Deepstore, Scotvalve and Stephen Gillespie Consultants
at a cost of US$15 million and the investment of an initial US$8 million for a 20%
stake in Gateway Gas Storage (see page 12)

o0 capital expenditure of US$59 million in relation to Energy Developments’ portfolio of
assets, including US$26 million on the Don fields prior to the EnQuest demerger and
USS$16 million on Cendor PM304 near field development

o capital expenditure on other property, plant and equipment of USS$72 million,
including temporary project camp facilities, office equipment and furniture and site-
based vehicles, predominantly in Engineering & Construction

1 financing activities of US$201 million, including:

o payment of the 2009 final dividend and 2010 interim dividend totalling US$132
million

0 repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings of US$32 million

o financing the purchase of treasury shares for the purpose of making awards under
the group’s share schemes of US$36 million

1 taxes paid of US$99 million

The group reduced its levels of interest-bearing loans and borrowings to US$87.7 million (2009:
USS$117.3 million) following scheduled loan repayments in 2010. Despite a reduction in the net
assets of the group as a result of the EnQuest demerger, the group’s gross gearing ratio fell to
11.3% (2009 restated: 13.1%) reflecting the reduction in interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Gearing ratio 2010 2009 restated
USS millions (unless otherwise stated)

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (A) 87.7 117.3

Cash and short term deposits (B) 1,063.0 1,417 .4

Net cash/(debt) (C=B - A) 975.3 1,300.1

Total net assets (D) 779.1 897.5

Gross gearing ratio (A/D) 11.3% 13.1%

Net gearing ratio (C/D) Net cash position Net cash position

The group’s total gross borrowings before associated debt acquisition costs at the end of 2010 were
US$91.8 million (2009: USS$123.1 million), of which 39.5% was denominated in US dollars (2009:
51.0%) and 60.5% was denominated in sterling (2009: 49.0%).

As detailed in note 33 to the financial statements, the group maintained a balanced borrowing
profile at 31 December 2010 with 51.7% of borrowings maturing within one year and 48.3%
maturing between one and five years (2009: 47.2% and 52.8%). The borrowings repayable within
one year include US$28.9 million of bank overdrafts (representing 31.5% of total gross borrowings),
which are expected to be renewed during 2011 in the normal course of business (2009: US$46.6
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million and 37.9% of total gross borrowings repayable within one year, including US$20.0 million of
revolving credit facilities).

None of the Company’s subsidiaries are subject to any material restrictions on their ability to
transfer funds in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances to the Company.

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment was lower during the year ended 31
December 2010 at USS$116.2 million (2009: USS$375.4 million), as almost three-quarters of the
capital expenditure in the prior year was in relation to the now demerged Don assets. The principal
elements of capital expenditure during the year were:

1 investment in temporary project camps, office improvements, equipment and furniture and
vehicles in Engineering & Construction, reflecting the increase in activity levels and
personnel, of US$60.1 million

9 additions to Energy Developments’ oil & gas assets, including:

o development expenditure on the Don assets prior to demerger of US$26.1 million
0 upgrade works on the FPF1 floating production facility of US$7.3 million

Capital expenditure on intangible oil & gas assets during the year was US$15.6 million (2009:
USS$29.2 million) in respect of capitalised expenditure on near field appraisal wells in relation to
Energy Developments’ interest in Block PM304, offshore Malaysia.

Shareholders’ funds

Total equity at 31 December 2010 was US$779.1 million (2009 restated: US$897.5 million). The
main elements of the net movement were: net profit for the year of US$557.9 million, less
dividends paid in the year of US$132.0 million, the distribution on the EnQuest demerger of
USS$544.5 million (see note 11 to the financial statements) and the purchase of treasury shares of
USS$36.5 million, which are held in the Petrofac Employees Benefit Trust for the purpose of making
awards under the group’s share schemes (see note 23 to the financial statements).

Return on capital employed®
The group’s return on capital employed, including the gain on the EnQuest demerger, for the year
ended 31 December 2010 was 65.2% (2009: 46.9%).

Dividends and distribution

The Company proposes a final dividend of 30.00 cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2010 (2009: 25.10 cents), which, if approved, will be paid to shareholders on 20 May 2011 provided
they were on the register on 26 April 2011. Shareholders who have not elected (before 4 March
2011) to receive dividends in US dollars will receive a sterling equivalent of 18.42 pence per share.

Together with the interim dividend of 13.80 cents per share (2009: 10.80 cents), equivalent to 8.91
pence, this gives a total dividend for the year of 43.80 cents per share (2009: 35.80 cents), an
increase of 22.3%.

In addition to the interim and final dividends, the Company made a non-cash distribution of one
EnQuest share for every one Petrofac Limited share held immediately prior to the demerger, which
for accounting purposes had a total fair value of US$553.3 million, equivalent to 160.08 cents per
share.
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Forward-looking statements

The Business Review (pages 1 to 41) contains forward-looking statements with respect to the financial
condition, results, and operations of the group. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve a
number of risks, uncertainties or assumptions that could cause actual results or events to differ materially
from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These risks, uncertainties or assumptions
could adversely affect the outcome and financial effects of the plans and events described herein. Forward-
looking statements contained in the Business Review regarding past trends or activities should not be taken
as representation that such trends or activities will continue in the future. Petrofac Limited undertakes no
obligation to update the forward-looking statements contained in this review or any other forward-looking
statements made.
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Net profit for the year attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholders.

Like-for-like net profit growth excludes the gain of US$124.9 million on the EnQuest demerger and the trading net
profit from Energy Developments’ demerged assets of US$12.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2009 and

USS$2.1 million for the year ending 31 December 2010.

Backlog consists of the estimated revenue attributable to the uncompleted portion of lump-sum engineering,
procurement and construction contracts and variation orders plus, with regard to engineering services and
facilities management contracts, the estimated revenue attributable to the lesser of the remaining term of the
contract and, in the case of life-of-field facilities management contracts, five years. The group uses this key

performance indicator as a measure of the visibility of future earnings. Backlog is not an audited measure.

The group reports its financial results in US dollars and, accordingly, will declare any dividends in US dollars
together with a Sterling equivalent. Unless shareholders have made valid elections to the contrary, they will
receive any dividends payable in Sterling. Conversion of the 2010 final dividend from US dollars into Sterling is
based upon an exchange rate of US$1.6290:£1, being the Bank of England Sterling spot rate as at midday on 4
March 2011.

Contracts where the group takes full responsibility for managing a customer’s asset and is responsible for the

safety case of the asset, reporting to the UK Department of Energy and Climate Change.

Pass-through revenue refers to the revenue recognised from low or zero margin third-party procurement services

provided to customers.

For example, Brent, a benchmark crude oil, averaged US$79.50 per barrel for 2010 (2009: US$61.67 per barrel).

ROCE is calculated as EBITA (earnings before interest, tax, amortisation and impairment charges, calculated as
EBITDA less depreciation per note 3 to the financial statements) divided by average capital employed (being total

equity and non-current liabilities per the consolidated balance sheet).

Petrofac Limited

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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For the year endesil December 2010

201C 2000
Notes US$o US$6
Restate:
Revenue 4a 4,354,21° 3,655,424
Cost of sales 4b (3,595,142 (3,088,250
Gross profit 759,07¢ 617,176
Selling, general anddministration expenses 4c (221,449 (186,293
Gain on EnQuest demerger 11 124,86¢ -
Other income A4f 5,01z 4,07t
Other expenses 49 (4,053 (2,998
Profit from operations before tax
and finance income/(costs) 663,45( 431,960
Finance costs 5 (5,131 (5,582,
Finance income 5 10,20¢ 11,94z
Share of loss of associate 14 (131) -
Profit before tax 668,391 438,320
Income tax expense 6 (110,545 (84,515
Profit for the year 557,85: 353,805
Attributable to:
Petrofad_imited shareholders 557,817 353,60:
Noncontrolling interests 35 202
557,85 353,805
Earnings per share (US cents) 7
- Basic (excluding gain on EnQuest demerger) 12776 104.7¢
- Diluted (excluding gain on EnQuest demerger) 12609 103.1¢
- Basic (ncluding gain on EnQuest demerger) 164.61 104.7¢
- Diluted (ncluding gain on EnQuest demerger) 162.4¢ 103.1¢

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 DecemBéd0

201C 2000
Notes US$o US$6
Restate:
Profit for the year 557,85: 353,805
Foreign currency translation 25 (908) 15,08:
Foreign currency translation recycled to income
statement in the year on EnQuest demerger 11 45,81¢ -
Net gains on maturity of cash flow hedges
recycled in the period 25 (16,612 (4,303
Net changes in fair value derivatives and
financial assets designated as cash flow hedge: 25 (18,958 29,22¢
Net changes in the fair value of availaiibe-sale
financial assets 25 70 -
Disposal of availabléor-sale financial assets 25 (74) -
Other comprehensive income 9,33¢ 40,01:
Total comprehensive income for the period 567,18¢ 393818
Attributable to:
Petrofad_imited shareholders 567,15:¢ 393,616
Noncontrolling interests 35 202
567,18¢ 39381¢

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION
At 31 December 2010 2010 200
Notes UsSs$o UsSs$o
Restate:
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipmie 9 287,15¢ 677,99¢
Goodwill 12 105,83: 97922
Intangible assets 13 85,837 73,107
Investment in associates 14 16,34¢ -
Available-for-sale financial assets 16 101,49¢ 539
Other financial assets 17 2,22% 12,53t
Deferred income tax assets 6¢c 26,301 49,72¢
625,19« 911,82¢
Current assets
Inventories 18 7,20z 9,79¢
Work in progress 19 803,98¢ 333,69¢
Trade and other receivables 20 1,056,75¢ 878,67(
Due from related parties 32 327 18,26(
Other financial assets 17 42,35( 30,957
Income tax receivable 2,52¢ -
Cash and shoterm deposits 21 1,063,00! 1,417,36:
2,976,15¢ 2,688,74t
TOTAL ASSETS 3,601,34¢ 3,600,57:
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholders
Share capital 22 6,914 8,63¢
Share premium 992 69,712
Capital redemption reserve 10,881 10,881
Shares to be issued 994 1,98¢
Treasury shares 23 (65,317 (56,285
Other reserves 25 34,72¢ 25,394
Retained earnings 787,27( 834,38:
776,46 8%,710
Non-controllinginteress 2,592 2,81¢
TOTAL EQUITY 779,05¢ 897,52¢
Non-current liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings 26 40,22¢ 59,19¢
Provisions 27 45,441 92,10¢
Other financial liabilities 28 11,45¢ 27,48t
Deferred income tax liabilities 6¢c 48,08¢ 42,192
145,20¢ 220,97¢
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 29 1,021,43¢ 977,017
Due to related parties 32 11,71C 57,32¢
Interestbearing loans and borrowings 26 47,43t 58,071
Other financial liabilities 28 37,05¢ 3,634
Income tax payable 105,55¢ 88,21¢
Billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings 19 178,42¢ 461,14+
Accrued contract expenses 30 1,275,46! 836,65¢
2,677,08¢ 2,482,067
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,822,29: 2,703042
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3,601,34¢ 3,600,57:
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The financial statements on padé3to 167 were approved by the Board of Directorsdbiarch 201 and signed on its
behalf byKeith Roberts- Chief Financial Officer.

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolifiatettial statements.
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Petrofac Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASl
FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Notes

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax including gain on EnQu
demerger

Gain on EnQuest demerger

Nonrcash adjustments to reconcile profit before
to net cash flows:
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment and w 4b, 4c
off
Sharebased payments 4d
Difference between other lofigrm employmer
benefits paid and amounts recognised in the
income statement
Net finance income 5
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant 4b,4f,49
equipment
Gain on disposal of intangible assets 4f
Other noncash items, net

Working capital adjustments:
Trade and other receivables
Work in progress

Due from related parties
Inventories

Other current financial assets
Trade and other payables
Billings in excess of cost and estimated earning
Accrued contract expenses
Due to related parties

Other current financial liabilities

Other norcurrent items, net

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Income taxes paid, net

Net cash flowsrom operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 10
Purchase of other intangible assets 13
Purchase of intangible oil & gas assets 13
Cash outflow on EnQuest demerger (including

transaction costs
Investment in associates 14
Purchase of availablier-sale financial assets 16
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

equipment
Proceeds from disposal of availaifte-sale financial asse
Proceeds from sale on intangible assets
Interest received

Net cash flows used in investing activities

2010 2009
US$o US$o
668,39 438,320
(124,864) -
543,53 438,320
95,90: 117,78(
14,78¢ 13,26¢
6,074 7,908
(5,078 (6,360
315 (784)
(2,338 -
13,31¢ (3,233
666,51 566,891
(266,757 (176,773
(470,288 (81,003
17,93¢ (15,353
(2,982 (5,721
(12,661 (4,775,
167,70" 479,90:
(282,715 175,61"
438,80¢ 284,79
(45,616 56,767
6,045 177
215,98: 1,280,524
(8,720 (4,265
207,26 1,276,25!
(1,948 (3,351
(99,030 (87,714
106,28¢ 1,185,19:
(115,345 (317,174
(15,110 -
(153) (10,375
(15,644 (29,230
(17,783 -
(8,459 -
(101,494 (106)
3,21¢ 1,332
539 95
6,01¢ -
10,257 12,15¢
(253,955 (343,299
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The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of interedtearing loans and borrowings
Proceeds from capital injection by noantrolling interest
Treasury shares purchased

Equity dividends paid

Net cash flowsused in financing activities
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Net foreign exchange difference

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

23

21

2010 2000
US$6 US$56
(32,458 (9,958

- 2,40¢
(36,486 -
(132,244 (98,995
(201,188 (106,545
(348,854 735,35(
(7,793 6,23t
1,390,74« 649,15¢
1,034,09° 1,390,74«
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Petrofac Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Attributable to shareholders of Petrofac Limited

Issuec Capital Non
share Share redemptior  Shares t  *Treasury Other  Retainet controlling Total
capital  premiun reserve  be issue shares reserve:  earnings Total interests Equity
For the year ended US$d USS$O US$6 USS$O US$06 USS$Sd US$6 USS$O US$5o US$od
31 December 200 (note B)  (note %)
Balance at Danuary 2010 as
restated 8,63¢ 69,712 10,881 1,98¢ (56,285 25,394 834,38 894,71 2,81¢ 897,52¢
Net profit for the year - - - - - - 557,817 557,817 35 557,85:
Other comprehensive income - - - - - 9,33€ - 9,33€ - 9,33€
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - - 9,33€ 557,817 567,158 35 567,18¢
Shares issued as payment of
consideration of acquisition 4 2,452 - (994) - - - 1,462 - 1,462
Sharebased payments charge
(note 24) - - - - - 14,784 - 14,784 - 14,78¢
Shares vested during the
year (note 23) - - - - 27,454 (26,170) (1,284) - - -
Transfer to reserve for share
based payments (note 24) - - - - - 12,75C - 12,75C - 12,75(C
Treasury shares purchased
(note 23) - - - - (36,486, - - (36,486, - (36,486,
Deferred tax on share based
payment reserve - - - - - (1,366) - (1,366) - (1,366)
EnQuesdemerger share split
and redemption (note 11) (1,728) - - - - - 1,72¢€ - - -
Distribution on EnQuest
demerger (note 11) - (71,172 - - - - (473,325 (544,497 - (544,497
Dividends (note 8) - - - - - - (132,048 (132,048 - (132,048
Movement in norcontrolling
interest - - - - - - - - (262) (262)
Balance at 31 December 2D 6,914 992 10,881 994 (65,317 34,72¢ 787,27( 776,462 2,592 779,054

* Shares held by Petrofac Employee Benefit Trust.
The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to shareholders of Petrofac Limited

Issuec Capital Non
share Share redemptior  Shares t *Treasury Other  Retainet controlling Total
capital  premiun reserve  be issue shares reserve:  earnings Total interests equity
For the year ended US$06 USS$O US$6 USS$SO US$06 US$Sd US$6 USS$O US$5o US$od
31 December 2009 (note B)  (note B)
Balance at 1 January 2009 8,63€ 68,202 10,881 1,98¢ (69,333 (39,292 577,73¢ 558,822 209 559,031
Net profit for the year as
reported - - - - - - 353,60 353,603 9,428 363,031
Other comprehensive income
reported - - - - - 35,812 - 35,812 4,20C 40,012
Total comprehensive income
for the year as reported - - - - - 35,81¢ 353,603 389,41¢ 13,62¢ 403,04«
Restatement - - - - - 4,20C - 4,20C (13,426 (9,226)
Total comprehensive income
for the year as restated - - - - - 40,012 353,603 393,61¢ 202 393,81¢
Shares issued on acquisition 2 1,50¢ - - - - - 1,511 - 1,511
Sharebased payments charge - - - - - 13,268 - 13,268 - 13,26:
(note 24)
Shares vested during the - - - - 13,04¢ (12,617, (431) - - -
year (note 23)
Transfer to reserve for share
based payments (note 24) - - - - - 10,94z - 10,94z - 10,942
Deferred tax on share based
payment reserve - - - - - 13,08t - 13,08t - 13,08t
Capital injection by non - - - - - - - - 2,408 2,40€
controlling interests
Dividends (note 8) - - - - - - (96,529 (96,529, - (96,529
Balance at 31 December 200¢
as restated 8,63¢ 69,712 10,881 1,98¢ (56,285 25,394 834,38 894,71( 2,81¢ 897,52¢

* Shares held by Petrofac EmployBenefit Trust.
The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Petrofac Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2010

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financi al statements of Petrofac Li mi
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 4 March 2011.

Petrofac Limited is a limited liability company retgred and domiciled in Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991
and is the holding company for the international group
December 2010 financial statements are shown on page®1®. The group’' s principal act
facilities solutions to the oil & gas production and processing industry.

A full listing of all group companies, and joint venture companies, is contained in note 35 to these consolidated financial
statements.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative finanaits instrume
and availabldor-sale financial assets which have been measured at fair Vihegaresentation currency of the consolidated
financial statements is United States Dollars and all values in the financial statements are rounded to the nearest thouse
(US$" 000) except wher e ot h-eonsidereddhe satu® bfehg contridiual cothinitmentsttooar s
joint venure on a lump sum construction contract in the Engineering & Construction reporting segment and as a result, th
amount of US$9,226,000 shown as part of-oontrolling interest in December 2009 in the income statement has been
reclassified to Cost of Sae Similarly US$4,200,000 shown within Other Comprehensive Income has been shown as
attributable to Petrofat)S$9,226,000 in the statement of financial position has been reclassified as trade and other payables.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of Petrofac Limited and its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance wi
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and applicable requirements of Jersey law.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated fiancial statements comprise the financial statements of Petrofac Limited and its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of its subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Compdmgyeandcessary,
adjustments are made to the finansial at e ment s of the group’s subsidiaries
those of the group.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and cease to be consolidated fron
the date on which corttis transferred out of the group. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.-gibimpraalances

and transactions, includingirealised profits, have been eliminated on consolidation.

Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries consolidated by ¢gheup are disclosed separately fromtireoup’ s equi t
income statemenPrior to 1 January 201@d4sesncurred by the group we attribuied to non-controlling interestantil the

balance is reduced to nil. Any furthexcesdosses were attributed to the paremtess therevasa binding obligation on the

part of thenoncontrolling interestto cover these. Losses prior to 1 Jary 2010 were not reallocated between-non
controlling interests and the parent shareholders.

New standards and interpretations

The group hasdopted new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standard
Board(lIASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to
its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. The principal effects of the
adoption of these meand amended standards and interpretations are discussed below:
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

I F R SBusiness Combinations (Revisdi}he revised standard increases the number of transactions to which it must be
appliedincluding business combinations of mutual entities and combinations without consideration. IFRS 3 (revised)
introduces significant changes in the accounting for business combinations such as valuaticoootrodimg interest,
business combination aehied in stages, the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration
and the accounting for transaction costs. These changes will have a significant impact on profit or loss reported in th
period of an acquisition, the amowftgoodwill recognised in a business combination and profit or loss reported in future
periods.

IAS276 Consolidated and Separat e FiheanemedstandaBitregtiresrthatratctangé A i
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary tfwiut loss of control) is accounted for as a transaction with owners in their
capacity as owners and these transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill or gains and losses. The standard als
specifies the accounting when control is lost and anynedainterest is remeasured to fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.

IFRIC17 6 Di st ri buitciasms Asfs e Nisis inteopretatiompeorided guidance in respect of accounting for
non-cash asset distributions to sharehadd his interpretation is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
See note 11 for distributions in respect of EnQuest demerger.

I FRS 8 0 Oper atheiamendnigmt glarifees thas siegment assets and liabilities need not be régbegdre

not used as a measure by the chief operating decision maker. As segment assets and liabilities are not reviewed by the ct
operating decision maker for operational and financial decisions, the group has opted not to disclose segment assets a
liabilities in note 3.

I AS 36 dmpairment of assetdthe amendment clarifies that operating segments as defined in IFRS 8 prior to aggregation
for reporting purposes, are the largest unit for allocating goodwill on acquisitions. The amendment haschorintipe
group as goodwill impairment testing is performed on cash generating units before aggregation.

Certain new standards, amendments to and interpretations of existing standards have been issued and are effective for
group’ s ac c degmiing ongor giter & Jaoudrg 2011 or later periods which the group has not early adopted.
The following are applicable to the group for which th
will be assessed on adoption of thetndards and interpretations:

i) IFRS96Fi nanci al effective for amma pericdbeginning on or after 1 January 2013, reflects the first
phase of the | ASB”s work on the replacement difancillAS 3
assets. It specifies that all financial assets should be initially measured at fair value and gives further guidance on th
measurement of debt instruments and equity instruments. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address th
classification andneasurement of financial liabilities, hedge accounting and derecognition. The completion of this
project is expected in early 2011. The management believes that this staiidaod have a significant effect on the
group’s financi al position.

i) IAS24Rel ated party deffectivie osannua geriofsFbeginmnirg erdoy dfter 1 January 2011. The
revision simplifies the identification of related party relationships, particularly in relation to significant influence and
joint control. The maagement believes that this standaii not have a significant eff
position.

Other amendments resulting from improvements to IFRS to the following standards and interpretations did not have any
impact on the accounting polisigfinancial position or performance of the group:

IS16 Presentation of Financi al Statementso

IAS326 Fi nanci al InstiCGmasssfi Paesentati Bhghts | ssues (Am
IFRIC146 Pr epayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement ( Ame
IFRIC196 Ext i ngui shing Financi al Liabilities with Equity I

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

Judgements
I n the process of appl yimaggeménehasgmade thp folewing rdgemems, dpartdronptimsei
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES(continued)

Significant accounting julgements and estimates (continued)

il

Revenue recognition on fixgulice engineering, procurement and construction contraitie group recognises
revenue on fixegbrice engineering, procurement and construction contracts usingethentag®f-completion

method, based on surveys of work performed. The group has determined this basis of revenue recognition is the be
available measure of progress on such contracts.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the futarel other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial
position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets asd liabilitie
within the next financial year are discussed below:

|l

Project cost to complete estimatas each statement of financial position date the group is required to estimate costs

to complete on fixed price contracts. Estimating costs to complete on such contracts requires the group to mak
estimates of futureosts to be incurred, based on work to be performed beyond the statement of financial position
date.

Onerous contract provisionghe group provides for future losses on ldegn contracts where it is considered
probable that the contract costs are likel exceed revenues in future years. Estimating these future losses involves
a number of assumptions about the achievement of contract performance targets and the likely levels of future cos
escalation over time.

Impairment of goodwillthe group deterimes whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use of the-gaslerating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating

the value in use requires the group to make an estimate of thetezkfigure cash flows from each cagmerating

unit and also to determine a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Tt
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 Decemi2810was US$05,832,00¢2002 US$7,922000)(note 12)

Deferred tax assetghe group recognises deferred tax assaetall applicable temporary differencesere it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available for utilisation. This requires management to make judgements
and assumptits regarding the amount of deferred tax that can be recodpzsed on the magnitude diietlihood

of future taxable profits. The carrying amountdeferred tax asset 31 DecembeR010was US£6,301,000

(2009 US$9,726000).

Income tax the Companyand its subsidiaries are subject to routine tax audits and also a process whereby tax
computations are discussed and agreed with the appropriate authorities. Whilst the ultimate outcome of such ta
audits and discussions cannot be determined with cgrtamanagement estimates the level of provisions required

for both current and deferred tax on the basis of professional advice and the nature of current discussions with the te
authority concerned

Recoverable value of intangible oil & gas and otheamgfible assetsthe group determines at eastatement of
financial positiondate whether there is any evidenceimdicators ofimpairment in the carrying value of its
intangible oil & gas and other intangible ass¥t#here indicators exist, an impairment test is undertaken which
requires management to estimate the recoverable value of its intangible assets for example by reference to quot:
market values, similar armlength transactions involving these assets oevaluse calculations.

Units of production depreciatiorestimated proven plus probable reserves are used in determining the depreciation

of oil & gas assets such that the depreciation charge is proportional to the depletion of the remaining reserves ove
their life of production. These calculations require the use of estimates including the amount of economically
recoverable reserves and future oil & gas capital expenditure
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Interests in joint ventures

The group has a number of contractual arrangements with other parties which represent joint ventures. These take the fo

of agreements to share contr ol over other entities (°
controlled operations’). The group’s interests innjoin
which involves recognising the group’s proportionate s

with similar items in the consolidated financial statements on abljfle basis. Where the group collaborates with other
entities in jointly controlled operations, the expenses the group incurs and its share of the revenue earned is recognised
the consbidated income statement. Assets controlled by the group and liabilities incurred by it are recognised in the
statement of financi al position. Where necessary, adj
controlled entities andperations to bring their accounting policies into line with those of the group.

Investment in associates

The group’s investment in associates is accounted for
cost and adjusted forpos acqui si ti on changes in the group’s share
investment forms a part of the carrying amount of the investment and is not individually tested for impairment.

The group recognises its share of the nefifsrafter tax and neoontrolling interest of the associates indtnsolidated

i ncome statement. Share of associ at e’ s coosolidategseatemeint of e q u
changes in equity. Any unrealised gains and lossestiresditom transactions between the group and the associate are
eliminated to the extent of the interest in associates.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared using same accounting policies and reporting periods as that of |
group.

The carried value of investment is tested for impairment at each reporting date. Impairment, if any, is determined by the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carried value and is reported within the share of incor
of an associat i n t hcensafdatedncgprhesstatement.

Foreign currency translation

The Company’'s functional and presentational currency i
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, transactonn currenci es ot her than a comp
at the prevailing rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. At the year end, monetary assets and liabilitigsdlenomina
foreign currencies are retranslated at the ratesxofange prevailing at the statement of financial position date.- Non
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the rate
exchange as at the dates of the initial transactions-niomgary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the rate of exchange at the date the fair value was determined. All foreign exchange gains &
losses are taken to the consolidated income statement with theti@xad exchange differences arising on monetary assets
and liabilities that form part of the group’s neesin nve:
equity until the disposal of the net investment at which time treegeaognised in the consolidated income statement.

The statement of financial positions of overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are translated into US dolle
using the closing rate method, whereby assets and liabilities are trandldatex rates of exchange prevailing at the
statement of financial position date. The income statements of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures are translated
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on the retransfeticassdts are taken directly to

other reserves withistatement of changeséquity.

On the disposal of a foreign entity, accumulated exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated income stateme
as a component of the gain or loss on disposal
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipmentsigted at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Cost comprises
the purchase price or construction cost and any costs directly attributable to making that asset capable of operating
intended. The purchase price or constructiost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration
given to acquire the asset. Depreciation is provided on a sttaightasis other than on oil & gas assets at the following
rates:

Oil & gas facilities 10%- 12.5%

Plant anl equipment 4% - 33%

Buildings and leasehold improvements 5% - 33% (or lease term if shorter)
Office furniture and equipment 25%- 100%

Vehicles 20%- 33%

Tangible oil & gas assets are depreciated, on a-figifield basis, using the unif-producton method based on
entitlement tgorovenand probable reserves, taking account of estimated future development expenditure relating to those
reserves.

Each asset
each financial year end.

s estimated wuseful i fe, resi dudif appvopriate & a n

No depreciation is charged on land or assets under construction.

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipmeatgrecognised on disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expectedoin its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising frond#recognition of an item of property, plant
and equipmeris included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. Gaersot classified as revenue.

Non-current assets held for sale

Noncurrent assets or disposal grogps classified as held for sale when it is expected that the carrying amount of an asset
will be recovered principally through sale rather than continuing use. Assets are not depreciated when classified as held fc
sak.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
substantial period of time tpreparefor their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, untilmachstithe

assets are substantially ready for their intended Aieather borrowing costs are recognised as interest payable in the
consolidatedncome statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combioa is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the entityate tife d
acquisition. Following initial recognitigrgoodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill

is reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying
value may be impairedll transaction costs assocat with business combinations post 1 January 2010 are charged to the
consolidatedncome statement in the year of such combination.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated to thegeashating units that are expected to

benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or units to which goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is not larger than an operating
segmentdetr mi ned in accordance with | FRS8 ‘Operating Segme

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of thgecashting units to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the egsherating units is less than thergarg amount of the caspenerating units
and related goodwill, an impairment loss is recognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to cgsimerating units and part of the operation within thosies is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured thaseslative

values of the operation disposed of and the portion of thegerstrating units retained.

Deferred consideration payable on acquisition

When as part of a business combinatitime group defers a proportion of the total purchase consideration payable for an
acquisition, the amount provided fortlse acquisition date fair value of the consideration. The unwinding afisceunt
elementis recognised saa finance cost in the inme statementor business combinations prior taJanuary2010, all

changes in estimated deferred consideration payable on acquisition is adpstesithe carried goodwill. For business
combinations after lahuary2010, changes in estimated deferreshsideration payable on acquisition are recognised in

the consolidatedncome statement unless they are measurement period adjustment which are as a result of additiong
information obtained after the acquisition date about the facts and circumstaistiag ex the acquisition date, which are
adjustedagainstcarried goodwill.

Intangible assets non oil & gas assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially measured at cost being their fair values at the date |
acquisitionand are recognised separately from goodwill where the asset is separable or arises from a contractual or othe
legal right and its fair value can be measured reliaBfter initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortidion and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible agitketa finite life are amortised over

their useful economic life using a straight line method unless a better method reflecting the pattern in whichighe asset
future economibenefits arexpected to be consumed can be determifié@. amortisation charge in respect of intangible
assets is included in the selling, general and administration expenses line of the consolidated income statement. Tl
expected useful lives of assets are reviewednoarmual basis. dy change in the useful life or pattern of consumption of

the intangible asset is treated aghange in accounting estimate aisdaccountedfor prospectivelyby changing the
amortisation period or method. Intangible assets are testéthf@irment whenever there is an indication that the asset
may be impaired.

Oil & gas assets

Capitalised costs
The group’s activities in relation to oil & gas asset
phases.

Oil & gasevaluation and development expenditure is accounted for using the successful efforts method of accounting.

Evaluation expenditures

Expenditure directly associated with evaluation (or appraisal) activities is capitalised as an intangible asset. Such cos
include the costs of acquiring an interest, appraisal well drilling costs, payments to contractors and an approprifite share
directly attributable overheads incurred during the evaluation phase. For such appraisal activity, which may require drilling
of further wells, costs continue to be carried as an asset whilst related hydrocarbons are considered capable of commerc
development. Such costs are subject to technical, commercial and management review to confirm the continued intent
develop, or othevise extract value. When this is no longer the case, the costs are -“wfitianthe income statement.

When such assets are declared part of a commercial development, related costs are transferred to tangible oil & gas ass
All intangible oil & gas assts are assessed for any impairment prior to transfer and any impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

Development expenditures
Expenditure relating to development of assets which include the construction, installation aretioaropinfrastructure
facilities such as platforms, pipelines and development wells, is capitalised within property, plant and equipment.

Changes in unitof-production factors
Changes in factors which affect woit-production calculations are dealith prospectively, not by immediate adjustment
of prior years’ amounts.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Decommissioning

Provision for future decommissioning costs is made in full when the group has an obligation to dismantle and remove
facility or an item of plant and to restore the site on which it is located, and when a reasonable estimate of thatlability

be made. The amount recognised is the present value of the estimated future expenditure. An amount equivalent to the
discounted initial provision for decommissioning costs is capitalised and amortised over the life of the underlying asset or
a unitof-productionbasis over proven and probable reserves. Any change in the present value of the estimated expenditur
is reflected as an adjustment to the provision and the oil & gas asset.

The unwinding of the discount applied to future decommissioning provisionsligled under finance costs in the income
statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments classified as availalide-sale are initially stated at fair value, including acquisition charges associated with
the investment.

After initial recogntion, availablefor-sale financial assets are measured at their fair value using quoted market rates or in
the absence of market data other fair value calculation methodologies. Gains and losses are recognised as a sepa
component of equity until thewestment is sold or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported
in equity is included in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill)

At each statement of financial position date, the grougevevihe carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
assess whether there is an indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the group makes
estimate of the asset’s receovaemabnte iasnotulmde . hi Amerascfet a
to sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows attributable to the assettade disco
to their present value using a fiex discount rate that refleatsirrent market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
reduced to its recoverable amount. iampairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluat
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have be
determined hAd no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
which case the reversal ofetimpairment is treated as a revaluation increase.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated sellithg price in
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of coompbaid the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost
comprises purchase price, cost of production, transportation and other directly allocable expenses. Costs of inventorie
other tharraw materialsare determined using the fiistfirst-out mehod. Costs ofaw materialsre determined using the
weighted average method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Work in progress and billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings

Fixed price lump sum engineering, procurement and construction cordracfwesented in the statement of financial
position as follows:

T for each contract, the accumul ated cost i ncurred,
perentage of completion less provision for any anticipated losses, after deducting the progress payments receive
or receivable from the customers, are shown in curr

progress

1 where the paymes received or receivable for any contract exceed the cost and estimated earnings less provision
for any anticipated | osses, the excess is shown a
current liabilities.

Trade and other receivabks

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any amounts estimated to
uncollectable. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the collection of the full
amount isno longer probable under the terms of the original invoice. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are
assessed as uncollectable.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and in hand ardrsma®posits wittan original maturity of three
months or less. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and cash equival
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interestbearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue
costs directly attributable to the borrowing.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interesbearing loansand borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount
premium on settlement.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised i the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of th
amount of the obligation. If the timalue of money is material, provisions are discounted using a curretaqrate that
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the puevision d
to the passage of time is recognisethie consolidated income statement as a finance cost.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset) is derecognised where:

9 the rights to receive cash flows from th&set have expired;

9 the group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in fu
wi t hout material del ayhtoughthiardapgemgntunder a ‘pas

1 thegroup has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either a) has transferred substantially &
the risks and rewards of the asset, or b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
the asset, butas transferred control of the asset.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liabilitlissharged or cancelled or expires.

If an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender, on substantially different terms, orsthe term
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modificatioratedras a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts togethe
with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Pensions andther long-term employment benefits

The group has various defined contribution pension schemes in accordance with the local conditions and practices in tt
countries in which it operates. The amount charged to the consolidated income statement tirofrgsgexion costs
reflects the contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable during the year and contribution
actually paid are shown as either accrued liabilities or prepaid assets in the statement of financial position.

The gr oup’ -termerplognent beoefitg are provided in accordance with the labour laws of the countries in
which the group operates, further details of which are given in note 27.

Share-based payment transactions

Employees (including directors) of the group receive remuneration in the form ofbslsa® payment transactions,
whereby employees render services i nsetxtclhead gter g a sthiaag |

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equitysettled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they
are granted. In valuing equisettled transactions, no account is taken of any service or performance conditions, other than
cond tions |Iinked to the price of the shares of Petrofac

The cost of equitgettled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the relevant employees lbeme ful ly entitled to the award (the °
recognised for equitgettled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has e x pienof¢hd numbedof dgditeinstjuments phat will Ultimately vests The ma
income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at t
beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awathat do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a
market or norvesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the marketvestiman
condition is satisfied, provided that all other pemfiance conditions are satisfied. Equity awards cancelled are treated as
vesting immediately on the date of cancellation, and any expense not recognised for the award at that date is recognised
the income statement.

Petrofac Employee Benefit Trust

The Petrofac Employe8enefit Trust wasestablishedn 7 March 20070 warehouse ordinary shares purchasesatisfy
variousnewshare schemawardsmadeto the employees of the Company, which will be transferred tm#rabers ofhe
schemeon their respectie vesting datesubject to satisfying the performance conditions of each schEngetrust has
beenpresented as part of both the Company and gfoupn anc i al statements in accorda
Entities’. The c o seld by Retrofah EEmpleyse Berefin prastreflecied gs trdasury shares and
deducted from equity.

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangemen
inception date of whether the fulfilment of the arrangenigrtependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the
arrangement conveyie right to use the asset.

The group has entered into various operating leases the payments for which are recognised as an expense in f

consolidated income statement on a straligiet basis over the lease terms.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can b
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria also apply:

Engineering, procurement and construction services (Engineering & Construction)

Revenues from fixeghrice lumpsum contracts are recognised on the percerdfgempletion method, based on surveys

of work performed once the outcome of a contract can be estimatedyrellalthe early stages of contract completion,
when the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenues are recognised only to the extent of cos
incurred that are expected to be recoverable.

Revenues from cogtlusfee contractare recognised on the basis of costs incurred during the year plus the fee earned
measured by the coegt-cost method.

Revenues from reimbursable contracts are recognised in the period in which the services are provided based on the agre
contract schade of rates.

Provision is made for all losses expected to arise on completion of contracts entered into at the statement of financi
position date, whether or not work has commenced on these contracts.

Incentive payments are included in revenue wherctintract is sufficiently advanced that it is probable that the specified
performance standards will be met or exceeded and the amount of the incentive payments can be measured reliab
Claimsand variation orders are only included in revenue when ia&igois have reached an advanced stage such that it is
probable the claim / variation orders will be accepted and can be measured reliably.

Facilities management, engineering and training services (Offshore Engineering & Operations, Engineering, Training
Services and Production Solutions)

Revenues from reimbursable contracts are recognised in the period in which the services are provided based on the agre
contract schedule of rates.

Revenues from fixeghrice contracts are recognised on the percert&gempletion method, measured by milestones
completed or earned valuence the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably. In the early stages of contract
completion, when the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revemaesgmised only to the
extent of costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable.

Incentive payments are included in revenue when the contract is sufficiently advanced that it is probable that the specified
performance standards will be met or exceedad the amount of the incentive payments can be measured reliably.
Claims are only included in revenue when negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable the cla
will be accepted and can be measured reliably.

Oil & gasactivities (Energy Developments)
Oi | & gas revenues comprise the group’s share of sale
basis, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been passed to the buyer.

Pre-contract/bid costs

Precontract/bid costs incurred are recognised as an expense until there is a high probability that the contract will be
awarded, after which all further costs are recognised as assets and expensed out over the life of the contract.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income taxes
Income tax expense represents the sum of current income tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
recovered from, or paid to the taxation authorities. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated incom
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it furth
excluds i tems that are never taxable or deductible. The
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date.

Deferred income tax is recognised on all terapprdifferences at the statement of financial position date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in tt
computation of taxable profit, with the following exceptions:

1 wherethe temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting no
taxable profit or loss;

1 inrespect btaxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
where the timing of reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse ingtforeseeable future; and

1 deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that a taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of theddeferre
income tax assets to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each statement of finar
position date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferre
tax asset todrecovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to a
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws enacted or substattidedy thieac
statement of financial position date.

Current and deferred income tax is charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity if it relates tc
items that are credited or charged to respectively, other comprehensive incometyr €fherwise, income tax is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts, interest rate collars and swaps and
price collars and forward contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency, interest rate and oil price
fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is enteckinto and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair valu
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that daalify for hedge accounting are taken
to theconsolidatedncome statement.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts wit|
similar maturity profiles. The fair value ofterest rate cap, swap and oil price collar contracts is determined by reference
to market values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:
91 fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changesfairthalue of a recognised asset or liability; or

1 cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transactio
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)

The group formally designates and documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item at t
inception ofthe transaction, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The documentation also includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, tt
nature of risk being hedgeddan how t he group wi ll assess the hedging in
to changes in the hedged item s fair valwue or <cash f|
assessment, both at hedge inception anéromngoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives aftesiges hedging instruments depends on the
nature of the hedging relationship, as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in statemer
of changes in equitywhile the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement. Amounts taken to equity are
transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction affects the consolidated income statement.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its deagnation

a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when th
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated income statement. When a forecast transaction is r
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in statement of changes in equity is immediatel
transferred to theonsolidated income statement.

Embedded derivatives

Contracts are assessed for the existence of embedded derivatives at the date that the group first becomes party to
contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to the contract thatangyifinodifies the cash flows. Embedded
derivatives which are not clearly and closely related to the underlying asset, liability or transaction are separated an
accounted for as standalone derivatives.
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposedti®éac is organised into seven main types of business unit activities which have been split into
four reportable segments below. Whilst Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions are three fairly diverse
businesses none have ever met the dfadine thresholdsséety | FRS 8 ‘' Operating Segments
segments.

The four reportable segments shown below consist of;

1 Engineering and Construction which provides engineering, procurement and construction project esemities to
the onshore oil & gas industry.

1 Offshore Engineering Operations which provides operations management services to the offshore oil & gas industry.

1 Energy Developments which co invests with partners in oil & gas production, processing andtaios@Essets.

1 Engineering, Training Services and Production Solutions activities consist of the provision of early stage engineering
services such as conceptual FE&udies, oil & gas related technical competency training and consultancy services and
production improvement services under value aligned commercial structures.

Management separately monitors the trading results of its seven business units for the purpose of making an assessmen
their performance and making decisions about how resouneesallbbcated to them. Each business unit/segment
performance is measured based on its profitability which is reflected in a manner consistent with the results shown below
However, certain shareholder services related overheads, group financing andlatosddidjustments are managed at a
corporate level and are not allocated to operating segments.

The following tables represent revenue and profit info
31 December 2010.

Year ended 31December 2010

Engineering
Training
Engineering Offshore Services ¢ Consolidatior
& Engineering & Productior Energy Corporate adjustments
Constructior Operation: Solution: Developmen & others  elimination: Total
Uss$od US$o US$o US$o US$o UsS$od UsS$od
Revenue
External sales 3,232,17. 710,08 223,74 188,21! - - 4,354,21
Inter -segment sales 21,73: 11,82: 131,53t - - (165,091 -
Total revenue 3,253,901 721,90: 355,28t 188,21! - (165,091 4,354,21
Segment results 438,86 24,50t 26,59( 66,29( (900! (3,362 551,99:
Gain on EnQuest demerger - - - 124,86« - - 124,86
Unallocated corporate costs - - - - (13,405 - (13,405
Profit / (loss) before taxand
finance income / (costs) 438,86 24,50t 26,59( 191,15 (14,305 (3,362 663,45(
Share of loss of associate - - - (131 - - (131
Finance costs - (968 (696, (3,121 (3,659 3,318 (5,131
Finance income 9,741 20¢ 52¢ 34¢ 2,69¢ (3,313 10,20¢
Profit / (loss) before
income tax 448,60¢ 23,74 26,41¢ 188,25( (15,265 (3,362 668,39
Income tax (expense) / income (75,550 (6,519 1,14¢ (31,895 2,275 - (110,545
Non-controlling interests (35) - - - - - (35)
Profit / (loss) for the yearattributable to
Petrofac Limited shareholders 373p2¢ 17,22¢ 27,56¢ 156,35% (12,990 (3,362 557,817
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2010

Engineering
Training
Engineering Offshore Services ¢ Consolidatiot
& Engineering & Productior Energy Corporate adjustmentg
Constructior Operation: Solution: Developmen & others  elimination Total
UsSs$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o
Other segment information
Capital expenditures:
Property, plant and equipment 62,08¢ 2,78¢ 6,857 41,11: 4,57t (1,178 116,23¢
Intangible oil & gas assets - - - 15,64« - - 15,64«
Charges:
Depreciation 34,34( 2,23¢ 7,20€ 49816 367 (575, 93,392
Amortisation 1,044 597 87C - - - 2,511
Other long-term employment benefits 10,43¢ 612 1,581 54 87 - 12,77(
Sharebased payments 7,69: 1,167 1,89¢ 1,121 2,907 - 14,784
Year ended 31December 2009 (restated)
Engineering
Training
Engineering Offshore Services ¢ Consolidatior
& Engineering & Productior Energy Corporate adjustments
Constructior Operation: Solution: Developmen & others  elimination: Total
Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o
Restate: Restate
Revenue
External sales 2,508,95 616,54. 281,22! 248,70t - - 3,655,42
Inter -segment sales - 10,17¢ 68,43 - - (78,609 -
Total revenue 2,508,95 626,72( 349,65¢ 248,70¢ - (78,609 3,655,421
Segment results 312,37: 17,83( 34,48! 77,39¢ (1,615 (326, 440,14:
Unallocated corporate costs - - - - (8,181 - (8,181
Profit / (loss) before tax and
finance income / (costs) 312,37- 17,83( 34,48! 77,39t (9,796 (326 431,96(
Finance costs - (258 (1,582 (10,702 (5,705 12,66 (5,582
Finance income 14,08’ 94 31: 64 10,04¢ (12,665 11,94
Profit / (loss) before
income tax 326,46: 17,66¢ 33,21« 66,75 (5,452 (326, 438,32
Income tax (expense) / income (61,328 (4,853 (672 (20,566 3,09t (291 (84,515
Minority interests (14) - (188 - - - (202
Profit / (loss) for the yearattributable to
Petrofac Limited shareholders 265,11 12,81% 32,35¢ 46,19: (2,357 (517 353,60:
Other segment information
Capital expenditures:
Property, plant and equipment 51,821 3,40 6,682 309,82 4,68¢ (1,014 375,39¢
Intangible oil & gas assets - - - 29,23( - - 29,23(
Charges:
Depreciation 24,52¢ 1,881 7,482 78,677 251 (918] 111,90
Amortisation 41E - 66¢€ - - - 1,08¢
Impairment - - - 4,79: - - 4,79:
Other long-term employment benefits 7,77¢ 833 1,73¢ 52 38 - 10,43¢
Sharebased payments 6,21% 1,26: 2,25¢ 1,331 2,19: - 13,261
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3 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical segments

The following tables present revenue from external customers based on their location and namirrent assets by
geographical segments for the years ended Blecember 2010 and 2009.

Year ended 31 December 2010

United Arat  United Saud Other
Algeria Emirates Kingdorr Kuwait Omar Syria Arabia countries Consolidater
Usso US$06 USS$O US$06 US$06 US$S6 US$S0 USS$O Uss$o
Revenues from external 1,037,96¢ 798,32¢ 753,84: 360,62¢ 350,31 277,19¢ 235,93t  540,01: 4,364,217
customers
United United Arat Other
Kingdorr Emirates Tunisie Algeria  Malaysie Indonesi¢ countries Consolidatel
US$6 US$6 USS$O UsSs$o US$6 US$Sd USS$O Uss$o
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 54,32¢ 94,29; 52,031 30,737 14,83¢ 1,55¢ 39,381 287,15¢
Intangible oil & gas assets - - - - 69,53 - - 69,53
Other intangible assets 9,365 - - - - 6,94C - 16,30%
Goodwill 90,09: 15,24( - - - - 499 105,83:
Year ended 31 December 2009
United United Arat Other
Kingdorr Emirates Omar  Tunisie Algeria Syria Kazakhstar countries Consolidate:
USs$6 US$06 US$06 US$SO6 US$O6 USS$SO US$06 USS$O Uss$o
Revenues from external customers 705,28 695,11¢ 530,26¢ 492,37¢ 380,601 203,57 184,30 463,89 3,655,42¢
United United Arat Other
Kingdormr Tunisia Emirates Algeria Malaysia countries Consolidates
US$06 USS$O US$o US$o US$06 USS$O UsSs$od
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 447,591 57,07¢ 74,09: 55,22¢ 25,27¢ 18,72¢ 677,996
Intangible oil & gas assets - - - - 53,88¢ - 53,88¢
Other intangible assets 11,654 - - - - 7,56& 19,21¢
Goodwill 85,15¢ - 12,09¢ - - 668 97,92

Revenueglisclosed in the above tablage based owhere the projeds located Revenue frontwo customes amounted
to US$1,422,410,000 (2009: $801,723,000) in the Engineering & Construction segment.

4 REVENUES AND EXPENSES

a. Revenue

201C 200¢
Uuss$o US$ 0
Rendering of services 4,202,37: 3,446,03
Sale of crude oil & gas 146,07¢ 202,77(
Sale of processed hydrocarbons 5,771 6,61¢
4,354,21 3,655,42(
Included in revenues from rendering of services are Offshore Engineering & Operations, Engineering, Training Services an
Production Solutions evenues-tbof oaghpasature with zero or | ow margg
US$230,262,000).

4 REVENUES AND EXPENSES(continued)

153



b. Cost of sales

Included in cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2010 is US$154,00048$008,000 gain) gain on disposal

of property, plant and equipment used to undertake various engineering and construction contracts. In addition depreciatic
charged on property, plant and equipment of US$85,186,000 during 2010 (2009: US$104,99T@00)ed in cost of

sales (note 9).

Also included in cost of sales are forward points and ineffective portions on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges ar
loss on maturity of undesignated derivatives of$8309,000(2009: US$19,508,000 gain). These amounts are an
economic hedge but do not meet the criteria within IAS39 and are most appropriately recorded in cost of sales.

C. Selling, general and administration expenses

201C 200¢

US$6 US$6

Staff costs 126,47¢ 94,58:
Depreciation 8,20¢ 6,907
Amortisation (note 13) 2,511 1,08:<
Impairment - 4,79:
Other operating expenses 84,25 78,927
221,44¢ 186,293

Other operating expenses consistinly of office, travel, legal and professional and contracting staf.cost

d. Staff costs

201C 200¢
USs$o US$o

Total staff costs:
Wages and salaries 828,43¢ 708,68¢
Social security costs 31,80¢ 27,87
Defined contribution pension costs 12,621 11,15¢
Other longterm employee benefit costs (hote 27) 12,77( 10,43¢
Expense of sharkased payments (note 24) 14,78¢ 13,26:
900,42: 771,417

Of the US$900,423,000 (2009: 771,417,000) of staff celstsvn above, US$773,948,000 (2009: US$676,834,000) are
included in cost of sales, with the remainder in selling, general and administration expenses.

The average number of persons employed by the group during the B2, 8@7 (2009: 11,628).

e. Auditor s® remuner ati on

The group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for oéser servic
provided to the group:

201C 200¢
US$6 US$o

Audit of the group financial statements 1,20¢ 1,36¢
Other fees to auditors
Local statutory audits of subsidiaries 812 546
Tax services 520 178
All other services 93 15

2,63¢ 2,10¢
4 REVENUES AND EXPENSES(continued)
f. Other income

201C 200¢
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Foreignexchange gains

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sale of intangible assets

Other income

g. Other expenses

Foreign exchange losses
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Other expenses

5 FINANCE (COSTS) / INCOME

Interest payable:

Longterm borrowings

Other interest, includinghortterm loans and overdrafts

Unwinding of discount on deferred consideration and decommissioning provisions
Total finance cost

Interest receivable:
Bank interest receivable
Otherinterest receivable
Total finance income

6 INCOME TAX

a. Tax on ordinary activities

The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Current income tax
Current income tagharge
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustments in respect of deferred incomedbgrevious years
Income tax expense reported in the income statement

Uss$o
720

2,33¢
1,947

5,01¢

201¢
Uss$o

3,452
477
124

4,058

201C
UsS$o

(2,908
(581)
(1,642

(5,131

9,94¢
264

10,20¢

2010
Uss$o

115,19¢
(2,843,

907
(2,718

110,54¢

US$6o

2,34z

1,73¢

4,07¢

200¢
US$o

2,67¢
124
199

2,99¢

200¢
US$6o

(3,171
(310)
(2,101

(5,582,

11,48
455

11,94

200¢
US$6

100,98t
(31,448

5,57C
9,40¢

84,51¢
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6 INCOME TAX (continued)

b. Reconciliation of total tax charge

A reconciliationb et ween the income tax expense and the product
domestic tax rate is as follows:
201C 200¢

US$H US$6
Accounting profit before tax (including gain on EnQuest demerger) 668,391 438,320
At Jersey’'s domestic income tax rate o - -
Expected tax charge in higher rate jurisdictions 116,19¢ 107,32
Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 1,072 14,70¢
Income not taxable - (396)
Adjustments in respect pfevious years (5,561 (22,040
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (568) (252)
Unrecognised tax losses 1,634 618
Other permanent differences (2,157 (15,441
Effect of change in tax rates (75) -
At the effective income tax rate ofL6.3% (2009: 19.3%) 110,54¢ 84,51¢
The group’ s effective tax rate for the yea ended 31 L
of Energy Development’'s UKCS business is 16.5% and exc

On 5 April 2010the group completed the demerger of its UKCS business to EnQuest Plc, an independent company whict
is listed on the London and Stockholm stock exchanges. No chargeable gain arose on the transaction for UK corporate t:
purposes. Thi s efeaivetaaratefdrthe fegod.gr oup’ s

Excluding the gain from the demerger, there has been a small inor¢lsegroup seffective tax rateFactors contributing

to this increase compared to 2009 include ring fence expenditure supplement no longavdigbte for claim following

the demerger of Petrofac Energy Development Limited, no additional adjustments being made in respect of the
applicability of the |l ower tax rate to the groupares Pr
expected to be earned by the Engineering & Construction reporting segment and due to recent acquisitions. There has a
been an increase in reportable profit within taxable jurisdictions. In June 2010, the UK government announced its intentior
to pragpose to the Parliament to reduce the UK corporation tax rate from 28% to 24% over the course of 4 years. From
April 2011 the UK corporate rate is 27% and will impact the reversal of the temporary difference from this date onwards,
reducing the UK tax as$s and liabilities. This UK tax rate change has been substantively enacted at the statement of
financial position date.
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6 INCOME TAX (continued)
c. Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax relates to the following:

Consolidated
Statement dFinancial

Consolidated
Income Statement

Position
2010 200¢ 201C 200¢

US$6 UsSs$o US$0 US$d
Deferred income tax liabilities
Fair value adjustment on acquisitions 1,41z 2,59¢ (597) (139)
Acceleratediepreciation 36,58( 27,51¢ 14,63( 15,472
Othertemporarydifferences 10,09¢ 12,07¢ (4,336 (1,441
Gross deferred income tax liabilities 48,08¢ 42,19
Deferred income tax assets
Losses available for offset 2,25¢ 18,41: (14,135 (11,130
Decelerated depreciation for tax purposes 2,404 7,59¢€ 327 9,40¢
Share scheme 15,721 18,63¢ (230) (1,142,
Other temporary differences 5,917 5,081 2,53C 3,94¢
Gross deferred income tax assets 26,301 49,72¢
Deferred income tagcredit)charge (1,811 14,97¢

d. Unrecognised tax losseand tax credits

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax lossfoawsrds and tax credits to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefithrough future taxable profits is probable. The group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
US$18,366,000 (2009: US$15,452,000).

2010 200¢
USs$6 US$o

Expiration dates for tax losses
No earlier than 2022 9,46¢€ 11,451
No expiration date 6,384 3,36(
15,85( 14,811
Tax credits (no expiration date) 2,51¢ 641
18,36¢ 15,452

7 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable tosbatielaojders
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, afte
adjusting for any dilutive effect, by theeighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted
for the effects of ordinary shares granted under the employee share award schemes which are held in trust.

The following reflects the income and share data used in calaulzasic and diluted earnings per share:
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7 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for bemtl dilutedearnings per sha
432,95

excluding gain on EnQuest demerger

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for bemtl dilutedearnings per sha
557,81

including gain on EnQuest demerger

Weighted average number of ordinary sharesé#sic earnings per share

Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares granted under @sed payment schemes
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share

8 DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

Declared and paid during the year

Equity dividends on ordinary shares:

Final dividend for 2008: 17.90 cents per share
Interim dividend 2009: 10.70 cents per share
Final dividend for 2009: 25.10 cents per share
Interim dividend 2010: 13.80 cents per share

Proposed for approval at AGM

(not recognised as a liability as at 31 December)

Equity dividends on ordinary shares

Final dividend for2010:30.00cents per share (20025.10cents per share)

2010
Uss$o

201C
Number
60

338,86’
4,497

343,36(

201C
Uss$o

85,291
46,75

132,04¢

201C
Uss$o

103,71¢

200¢
US$o

353,60¢

353,60¢

200¢
Numbe
60

337,47
5,187

342,66(

200¢
US$6o

60,33:
36,197

96,52¢

200¢
US$6

86,728
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 1 January 2009
Additions
Disposals

Exchange difference

At 1 January 2010
Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Disposals

Transfers

Exchange difference

At 31 December 200

Depreciation

At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year
Disposals

Exchange difference

At 1 January 2010
Charge for the year
Disposals
Transfers

Exchange difference

At 31 December 200

Net carrying amount:

At 31 December 200

At 31 December 2009

Land,
buildings Office

and furniture Asset:

Oil & gas Oil & gas leasehol Plant anc and undel
asset  faciliies improvement equipmen  Vehicles equipmen constructior Total
US$06 USS$O Uss$o US$6 US$Sd USS$O US$06 USS$SO
279,10¢ 125,37: 83,08¢ 22,23t 6,574 69,047 - 585,41¢
276,79¢ 32,61 32,632 4,27% 4,907 17,66: 6,514 375,39¢
- - (1,474 (4,631, (789) (3,366, - (10,260
- - 1,29¢€ 1,102 204 3,74t 165 6,51z
555,90: 157,98:¢ 115,54: 22,98( 10,89¢ 87,08¢ 6,67¢ 957,07(
32,252 7,60z 44,114 1,44% 4,75k 19,23¢ 6,83t 116,23¢
- - - 2,081 46 43 - 2,17C
(470,447 - (1,847, (2,344, (854) (17,268 - (492,760
- - 881 4 - (885) - -
- - (462) (712) (158 (809 (132) (2,273,
117,70¢ 165,58t 158,22¢ 23,45¢ 14,68¢ 87,40¢ 13,38( 580,44¢
(16,187 (87,026 (7,983 (16,512 (4,235, (40,411 - (172,354
(60,984 (15,254 (14,998 (3,571, (2,254, (14,843 - (111,904
- - 1,33C 4,51¢ 740 3,15C - 9,73€
- - (379) (1,051, (37) (3,085, - (4,552,
(77,171 (102,280 (22,030 (16,618 (5,786, (55,189 - (279,074
(32,204 (15,993 (23,981 (2,734 (3,462, (15,018 - (93,392
59,592 - 1,40C 538 769 16,07z - 78,371
- - (83) - - 83 - -
- - 71 327 28 381 - 807
(49,783 (118,273 (44,623 (18,487 (8,451, (53,671 - (293,288
67,927 47,312 113,60¢ 4,967 6,234 33,737 13,38(C 287,15¢
478,73( 55,70: 93,512 6,362 5,11C 31,90C 6,67¢ 677,99¢

No interest has been capitalised within oil & gas facilities during the yea®:(2dp and the accumulated capitalised
interest, net of depreciation at BeEcember 200, was US$32,000200: US$#31,000).

Additions to oil & gasassets in 200fha i nl vy

compr i

s e

devel

opment

expenses
areaasses of US$74,114000 During the year, the Don assets were demerged ssadresult oil & gas assets with a net
book value of US$410,855,000 were disposed of (note 11).
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Included in oil & gas assets are US$2,196,000 (2009: US$50,726,000) of capitalised decommissioning costs net c
depreciation provided on the PM304 asset inayislaandthe Chergui asset in Tunisi@ihe decrease in the 31 December
2010 o0il & gas asset’' s thedDbraarea assets i thellnitked Kingdomtd L) d e mer ger

Of the total charge for depreciation in the income statement3%)$86,@0 (2009: US$L04,997000) is included in cost of
sales and US$206,0002009: US$,907,000) in selling, general and administration expenses.

Assets under constructi@momprises of expenditures incurnedrelation to the group ERP project
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10 BUSINESSCOMBINATIONS

Scotvalve Services Limited

On 14 January 2010, the group acquired a 100% interest in the share capaatvalveServices Limited (Scotvalve), a
United Kingdom based company, involved in the servicing and repair of oilfield pressurel ceouiipment. The
Scotvalve acquisiton wild.l enhance the group’s mechani
consideration for the acquisition was Sterling 4,630,000 (equivalent US$7,512,000) comprising of Sterling 2,801,000
(equvalent US$4,545,000) as an initial cash payment, Sterling 150,000 (equivalent US$243,000) to be settled in casl
during the year and the balance being the discounted value of deferred consideration amounting to Sterling 1,679,00
(equivalent US$2,724,00@)ayable based on the estimated future profitability of Scotvalve. The range of deferred
consideration payable is from zero to a maximum of Sterling 2,000,000 (equivalent US$3,122,000) over a three yea
period.

The fair values of the identifiable assetsl éiabilities of Scotvalve on completion of the acquisition are analysed below:

Recognisedn Carrying
acquisitior value
US$ o USs$bo
Property, plant and equipment 1,891 1,97¢
Investments irassociates (note 14) 777 777
Intangibleassets (note 13) 1,107 -
Trade and other receivables 2,60¢€ 2,60¢€
Cash and shotkerm deposits 410 410
Total assets 6,791 5,771
Less:
Deferred tax liability (325) (16)
Income tax liability (279) (279)
Trade and other payables (1,220 (1,220
Total liabilities (1,829 (1,515
Fair value of net asses&quired 4,967 4,25€
Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,54k
Consideration at acquisition 7,512
UsSs$bo
Cash outflow on acquisition:
Cash &quired withsubsidiary 410
Cash paid on acquisition (4,549
Net cash outflow on the acquisition of subsidiary (4,135

Intangible assets recognised on acquisition comprise equipment manufacturer warranty repair licenses which are beir
amortised over their remainiregonomic useful lives of five years on a strailye basis.

The residual goodwill above comprises the fair value of expected future synergies and business opportunities arising fror
the integration of the business in to the group.

From the date of acdgition, Scotvalvehas contributedevenues of US$6,903,000 and net income$$1,020,00Qt0 the
net profit of the grouplf the above combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, net profit of Scotvalve would
have been USI5020,000and revene would have been US®03,000

The transaction costs of Sterlid®2000 (equivalent US$154,000) relating to the acquisition have been expensed in the
year and are included within selling, general and administration and are included as cash flovpefadimg activities in
the consolidated cash flow statement.

The deferred consideratigrayablewas reassessed at year end in light of latest financial projections for the business and
the current carried amount was reduced by SterlBg0D0 (equivalat US$D8,000) with a corresponding increasa
other income within theonsolidatedncome statement.
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10 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Stephen Gillespie Consultants Limited

On1 April 2010, the group acquired a 100% interest in the share cap&&tphen Gillespie Consultartsnited (SGC), a

United Kingdom based provider of software consultancy to flow metering control system manufacturers for a
consideration of Sterling 4,523,000 (equivalent US$6,853,000) comprising of Sterling 3,178,000aléequi
US$4,815,000) paid upfront in cash and the balance being the discounted value of deferred consideration amounting
Sterling 1,345,000 (equivalent US$2,038,000) payable based on the estimated future revenue of the company. Th
acquisition willenaence the group’s existing metering service of
solutions to both brownfield and greenfield international oil & gas projects. The range of deferred consideration payable is
from Sterling 600,000 (equiveiht US$937,000) to a maximum of Sterling 1,200,000 (equivalent US$1,873,000) based on
future revenue of SGC over a two year period.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of SGC on completion of the acquisition are analysed below:

Recognisedn Carrying
acquisitior value
US$o USs$o
Property, plant and equipment 61 61
Intangible assets (note 13) 2,06t -
Trade and other receivables 1,424 1,424
Cash and shoterm deposits 1,92C 1,92C
Total assets 5,47( 3,40¢
Less:
Deferred tax liability (579 -
Income tax liability (383) (383
Trade and other payables (1,126 (1,254
Total liabilities (2,088 (1,637
Fair value of net asseésquired 3,382 1,76¢
Goodwill arising on acquisition 3,471
Consideration at acquisition 6,852
USs$o
Cash outflow on acquisition:
Cash &quired withsubsidiary 1,92C
Cash paid on acquisition (4,815
Net cash outflow on the acquisition of subsidiary (2,895

Intangible assetsecognised on acquisition comprise of software related to metering technology which is being amortised
over its remaining economic useful lives of five years on a striighbasis.

The residual goodwill above comprises the fair value of expected feynergies and business opportunities arising from
the integration of the business in to the group.

From the date of acquisitio§GC has contributedevenues of US$6,549,000 and net incomé&8$165000to the net
profit of the groupIf the above combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, net p@&@Cafould have
been USR05,000and revenue would have been US#.2,000

The transaction costs of Sterli6§,000 (equivalent US$99,000) relating to the acquisition Haen expensed in the year
and are included within selling, general and administration and are included as cash flows from operating activities in the
consolidated cash flow statement.

The deferred consideratigrayablewas reassessed at year end in ligtitlatest financial projections for the business and
the current carried amount was reduced by SterlB&0DO (equivalent US$B,000) with a corresponding increasa
other income within theonsolidatedncome statement.
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10 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

CO2DeepStore Limited

On 27 April 2010, the group acquired a 100% interest in the share cap@&2ideepStore LimitedCO2Deeptore), a

United Kingdom based company focused on the CO2 geological storage sector of the carbon capture anthgtetage
for a cash consideration of Sterling 220,000 (equivale
the strategically important emerging low carbon energy sector.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilitésCO2Deepstore on completion of the acquisition are analysed
below:

Recognisedn Carrying
acquisitior value
US$o USs$bo
Property, plant and equipment 3 3
Trade and other receivables 134 134
Cash and shoterm deposits 263 263
Total assets 400 400
Less:
Income tax liability (31) (31)
Trade and other payables (29) (29)
Total liabilities (60) (60)
Fair value of net asses&quired 340 340
Goodwill arising on acquisition -
Consideration at acquisition 340
UsSs$o
Cash outflow on acquisition:
Cash &quired withsubsidiary 263
Cash paid on acquisition (340)
Net cash outflow on the acquisition of subsidiary (77)

From the date of acquisitioGO2Deepstordas contributedevenues of US$88,000 and a net los§/88823,000to the
net profit of the grouplf the above combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, net p@fiRbfeepstore
would have been US$3,000and revenue would have been 98%,000

The transaction costs of Sterlidd,000 (equivalent US$26,000) relating to the acquisition have been expensed in the year
and are included within selling, general and administration and are included as cash flows from operating activities in the
consolidaéed cash flow statement.

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, costs of up to Sterling 200,000 (equivalent US$312,000) will be payable t
the former owners of CO2Deepstore 3 three years from the date of completion based on the estimatedfifahilieypro

of the company and will be recognised as an expense in the income statement over this period. The charge for the curre
year is Sterling 44,000 (equivalent US$68,000).
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10 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

TNEI Services Limited

On 14 June 2010, the group acquired a 100% interest in the share capitstloBervicesLimited (TNEI) through the
acquisition of its holding company New Energy Industries Limited for a cash consideration of Sterling 6,123,000
(equivalent US$ 8,913,000T.NEI provides services in the areas of power transmission and distribution, planning and
environmental consent and energy management. The acqui
services offering in the rapidly developing pavand renewable energy markets.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of TNEI on completion of the acquisition are analysed below:

Recognisedn Carrying
acquisitior value
Uss$o USs$bo
Property, plant and equipment 215 215
Acquired goodwill 881 881
Trade and other receivables 1,77¢ 1,77¢
Cash and shotkerm deposits 910 910
Total assets 3,78¢ 3,78E
Less:
Trade and other payables (1,198 (1,198
Total liabilities (1,198 (1,198
Fair valueof net assetacquired 2,587 2,587
Goodwill arising on acquisition 6,32€
Consideration at acquisition 8,913
USs$o6
Cash outflow on acquisition:
Cash &quired withsubsidiary 910
Cash paid on acquisition (8,913
Net cash outflow on the acquisition of subsidiary (8,003

The residual goodwill above comprises the fair value of expected future synergies and business opportunities arising fror
the integration of the business in to the group.

From the date of acquisitiomNEI has contributedevenue of US$3,898,000 and a net los§)885,000t0 the grouplf
the above combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, net pidMEbfvould have been US$1,000and
revenue would haveeen US$,296,000

The transaction costs of Sterling 38,000 (equivalent US$58,000) relating to the acquisition have been expensst in the
and are included within selling, general and administration and are included as cash flows from operatiag gt
consolidated cash flow statement.

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, Sterling 1,538,000 (equivalent US$2,370,000) will be payable 50% in
Petrofac shares and 50% in cash to the former owners of TNEI who remain as employees obftme dPetip in three

equal tranches over 3 years from the date of completion which will be recognised as an expense in the income on a straic
line basis over the 3 years. The charge for the current year is Sterling 278,000 (equivalent US$428,000).
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11 GAIN ON ENQUEST DEMERGER

On 5 April 2010, the group’s interests in the Don ar ec¢
Petrofac Energy Developments Limited (PEDL), Petrofac Energy Developments Oceania Limited (PEDOLD&and PE
Limited (PEDLL) to EnQuest PLC for a deemed consideration for accounting purposes of US$553,300,000 which was
settled by the issue of EnQuest PLC shares directly to Petrofac Limited shareholders*. The gain on the demerge
transaction has been computed@llows:

Uss$o Usso
Fair value of consideration 553,30(
Less:
Property, plant and equipment (410,855
Deferred tax asset (27,394
Inventories (5,578
Trade and other receivables (107,039
Cash and bank (16,147
Totalbook value of assets transferred (567,013
Provision for decommissioning 55,967
Trade and other payables 130,34¢
Translation reserve (3,308
Total book value of liabilities transferred 183,007
Net assets transferred (384,006
Transaction costs (1,636
Release of foreign currency translation reserve (45,818
Allocated goodwill written off (note 12) (1,146
Other consolidation adjustments 4,17C
Gain on demerger 124,864

*In order to effect the demerger of the PEDL sub group to EnQuest, the existing issued ordinary share capital of Petrofa
Limited was subdivided and converted into new ordinary Petrofac shares with a nominal value of US$0.02 each anc
Petrofac B shares dfS$0.005 each and subsequent to this share split the B shares were purchased and cancelled i
exchange for an allotment and issue of EnQuest ordinary shares directly to holders of Petrofac B shares.

As a result of this capital terganisation and purchasé Petrofac B shares US$1,728,000 of Petrofac issued ordinary
share capital was extinguished and transferred to retained earnings and-tashadistribution to Petrofac shareholders

for accounting purposes of US$553,300,000 was made via the utilisétioa existing share premium account balance of
US$71,172,000 with the remaining amount of US$482,128,000 being transferred out of retained earnings. In additior
US$8,803,000 of proceeds generated by the Petrofac Employee Benefit Trust selling ity dfdithi@uest shares arising

from the demerger have been credited to retained earnings leaving a net impact on retained earnings of US$473,325,000.

12 GOODWILL

A summary of the movements in goodwill is presented below:

201C 200¢

US$6o US$6

At 1 January 97,922 97,53¢
Acquisitions during the year (note 10) 13,22z -
Reassessment of deferred consideration payable (1,313 (8,992
Write off on EnQuest demerger (note 11) (1,146 -
Exchange difference (2,854 9,38(
At 31 December 105,83: 97,92:

Reassessment of deferred consideration payabialy compriseof the reduction indeferred consideration payable on
Caltec Limited of US$4,285,000 (2009: US$2,929,d606reaspand an increase in deferred consideration payab®PD
Group Limited of US$3,141,000 (2009: US$4,351,000 decrease).

12 GOODWILL (continued)
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Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to five groups-gérearstiing units, which are
operating segments, for impairment testisgfollows:

Offshore Engineering & Operations
Engineering Services

Production Solutions

Training Services

Energy Developments

= =a =a -4 =

These represent the lowest level within the group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Offshore Engineering & Operations, Engineering Services, Production Solutions and Training egeterating units

The recoverable amounts for tidfshore Engineering & OperationEngineering ServiceRroduction Solutiongnd

Training units have been deteined based on value in use calculations, using discountetdprash flow projections.
Management has adopted a ten year projection period t
experience of the accuracy of leteym cashlow forecasts that these projections are reliable. The cash flow projections
are based on financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five year period, extrapolated for a further fi\
years at a growth rate of 5% for Offshore Engineerin@g@gerations, Engineering Services and Training -cgesierating

units and 2.5% per annum for Production Solutions-ggsterating unit since it includes newly acquired businesses where
there is less historic track record of achieving financial projections.

Energy Developments casienerating unit

The recoverable amount of the Energy Developments unit is also determined on a value in use calculation using discount
pretax cash flow projections based on financial budgets and economic assumptions fort tapproved by senior
management antbvering a fiveyearperiod, as referred to in IAS 36.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each group of caslgenerating units

201C 200¢

US$6 US$o

Offshore Engineering & Operations unit 27,992 22,97¢
Engineering Services 7,72¢ -
Production Solutions unit 49,73¢ 52,49¢
Training Services unit 19,30z 20,23¢
Energy Developments unit 1,071 2,217
105,83: 97,92

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

The calculation of value inse for the Offshore Engineering & Operations, Engineering Services, Production Solutions and
Training Services units is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Market sharethe assumption relating to market share for the Offshore Engineering &a@gres unit is based on the unit
re-securing those existing customer contracts in the UK which are due to expire during the projection period; for the
Training Services unit, the key assumpt i ons marketistatedn t o
the UK and developing further the business in international markets.

Growth rate;e st i mat es are based on management 6 s aemerscdaciernt o
and the growth rates experienced in the recent pasably unit A growth rate of 5% per annum has been appied
Offshore Engineering & Operations, Engineering Services and TraBengcescashgenerating unitfor the remaining

five years of the ten year projection period @8% per annum for Produeh Solutions caslgenerating unit since it
includes newly acquired businesses where there is less historic track record of achieving financial projections.

Net profit marginse st i mates are based on management age ahlsastunrigpet i or
with the recent past performance of each of the units.
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12 GOODWILL (continued)

Discount rate management has used a-tag discount rate 014.6% per annum foeach ofOffshore Engineering &
Operations(2009: 14.%6), EngineeringServices (2009: nJaProduction Solutiong2009: 14.5% and Training(2009:

14.5%) cashgenerating ung which are derived from the estimated weighted average cost of capital of the group. This
discount rate has been calculated using an estimated eisk frr at e of return adjusted f
mar ket risk premium and the group’s cost of debt.

The calculation of value in use for the Energy Developments unit is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rate:management hassed an estimate of the piax weighted average cost of capital of the group plus a risk
premium to reflect the particular risk characteristics of each individual asset. The discount rate used for 2010 was 13.49
for each asset (2009: 10.5%).

Oil & gasprices: management has used an oil price assumption of US$75.00 (2009: US$70.00) per barrel and a gas pric
of US$8.73 (2009: US$8.30) per mcf for the impairment testing of its individual oil & gas investments.

Reserve volumes and production profilemragement has used its internally developed economic models of reserves and
production as a basis of calculating value in use.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

Other than the assumed success of the Ticleni contract in Production Solutltomsgardto the assessment of value in

use of the cash generating units, management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above k
assumptions would cause the carrying value of the relevant unit to exceed its recoverable amount, afteregiving du
consideration to the macexronomic outlook for the oil & gas industry and the commercial arrangements with customers
underpinning the cash flow forecasts for each of the units.
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2010 2009
US$0I US$06!
Intangible oil &gas assets
Cost:
At 1 January 53,888 43,137
Additions 15,644 29,230
Disposal - (18,479)
At 31 December 69,532 53,888
Accumulated impairment:
At 1 January - (13,686)
Impairment - (4,793)
Disposal - 18,479
At 31 December - -
Net book value of intangible oil & gas assets at 31 December 69,532 53,888
Other intangible assets
Cost:
At 1 January 25,476 13,892
Additionson acquisition (note 10) 3,172 -
Additions 153 10,375
Disposal (4,220) -
Exchange difference (43) 1,209
At 31 December 24,538 25,476
Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January (6,257) (4,990)
Amortisation (2,511) (1,083)
Disposal 540 -
Exchange difference (5) (184)
At 31 December (8,233) (6,257)
Net book value of other intangible assets at 31 December 16,305 19,219
Total intangible assets 85,837 73,107

Intangible oil & gas assets

Oil & gas asset (part of the Energy Development segment) additions above comptisa$bh,644,000(2009:
US$9,230,000 of capitalised assqgtsadalaystaur e on the group’s

There were investing cash outflows relating to capitalised intangible oil & gas assets ©5,&&%$000 (2000:
US$29,230,000) in the current period arisingnfi predevelopment activities.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprising customer contracts, proprietary software, LNG intellectual property and patent
technology are being amortised over their remaining estimated economic useffl thfieee, six, eight and ten years
respectively on a straigfine basis and the related amortisation charges included in selling, general and administrative
expenses (noteck During the year, proprietary software was disposed of with a resulting gaillogid in other income

(note 4f).
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14 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

201C 200¢

USs$o US$o

Investment in Gateway Storage Company Limited 15,79¢ -
Associates acquired through acquisition of Scotvalve (note 10) 777 -
Share of associate loss (131) -
Exchange difference (92) -
16,34¢ -

Gateway Storage Company Limited

On 6 December 2010, the group acquired a 2@ty interest in Gateway Storage Company Limited (Gateway), an
unlisted entity, to progress and develop the Gateway Gas Storage project in the East Irish 8etal Tdwst of the
investmentwas Sterling 5,000,000 (equivalent US$ 7,795,0@0yether with transaction costs of U$$4,000 and
contracted value diree services to be provided by the group of Sterling 500,000 (equivalent US$ 780,000). Additional
contingent paymentsnay becomepayable under the terms of the investment, subject to key project dmezio
milestones being achieved, including the outcome of further successful equityBefi@sed consideration of Sterling
4,160,000 (equivalent US$6,556,000) has been estimated as payable using a discounted storage project cash flow mo
assuming cedtin project scenarios to which estimated probabilities were assigned by management. The deferred
consideration in no event will exceed an additional amount of Sterling 28,000,000 (equivalent US$43,7DBc0Si0are

of the associ at alpasitiopisastiolom& nt of fi nanci

201C
US$6
Non-current assets 123
Current assets 3,05C
Non-current liabilities -
Current liabilities (795)
Equity 2,37¢
Transaction costs incurred 664
Fair value of free services to peovided 780
Deferred consideration payable 6,55¢€
Exchange on deferred consideration payable (63)
Residual goodwiill 5,417
Share of loss (131)
Carrying value of investment 15,601
Share of associates revenues and net loss:
Revenue -
Net loss (131)
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15 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

In the normal course of business, the group establishes jointly controlled entities for the execution of certain of its
operations and contracts. A list of these joint ventures is disclosedoin e 3 5. The group’s sha
revenues and expenses relating to jointly controlled entities is as follows:

201C 200¢
US$6 US$0
Revenue 194,84¢ 31,57:
Cost of sales (171,233 (28,293
Gross profit 23,61¢ 3,28C
Selling, general and administration expenses (14,286 (16,374
Other (expense)/income, net (6,553 a7
Finance income, net 643 5
Profit/(loss) before income tax 3,41¢ (13,042
Income tax (263) (268)
Net profit/(loss) 3,15¢ (13,310
Currentassets 94,93¢ 61,677
Non-current assets 27,63¢ 4,83(
Total assets 122,56¢ 66,507
Current liabilities 120,89: 64,61¢
Norcurrent liabilities 1,65¢ 3,68¢
Total liabilities 122,55( 68,30¢
Net assets/(liabilities) 19 (1,798
16  AVAILABLE -FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
201C 200¢
US$6 US$5o
Seven Energy International Limited 101,25 -
Shares-listed 243 -
Units in a mutual fund - 539
101,49 539

On 25November 2010, the groymaid US$10L,251,000 for 15%(12.6% on a fully diluted basig)f the share capital of
SevenrEnergy International Limited (Seven Energy), a leading Nigerian gas development and production company. The grouj
also has the option to subscribe for 148,571 of additional warrants in Sesmgy Eh a cost of a further US$52,000,000
subject to the satisfaction of certain performance conditions and milestones in relation to project execution. These warran
have been fair valued as derivative financial instruments under IAS 39 using a Bilatds3dodel and are included in other
financial assets (note 17) with a corresponding entry in trade and other payables representing deferred revenueheelating to |
performance conditions. This will be recognised as a gain once the warrants becomabéxercis
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17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

201C 200¢
US$6 US$6
Other financial assets non-current
Fair value of derivative instruments (note 33) 12 9,65¢
Restricted cash 266 2,88(
Other 1,94¢ -
2,22¢ 12,53¢
Other financial assets current
Seven Energy warrants (note 16) 11,96¢ -
Fair value of derivative instruments (note 33) 9,18: 22,30¢
Interest receivable 731 845
Restricted cash 19,19¢ 7,431
Other 1,271 375

42,35( 30,95i
Restricted cash comprises deposigh financial institutions securing various guarantees and performance bonds

associated with the group’s trading activities (note 3
performance bonds.

18 INVENTORIES

201C 200¢

US$6 US$6

Crude oil 2,11¢ 5,272
Processed hydrocarbons 90 31
Stores and spares 4,08¢ 2,942
Raw materials 910 1,552

7,20z 9,79¢

Included in the consolidated income statement are costs of inventories expensed of US$28,840,000 (2009
US$37,306,000).

19 WORK IN PROGRESS AND BILLINGS IN EXCESS OF COST AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS

201C 200¢

UsSs$o UsSs$6

Cost and estimated earnings 7,812,89 3,918,36!¢
Less: hillings (7,008,911 (3,584,670
Work in progress 803,98¢ 333,69¢
Billings 2,144,25: 3,406,41.
Less: cost and estimated earnings (1,965,823 (2,945,268
Billings in excess of cost and estimated earnings 178,42¢ 461,14«
Total cost and estimated earnings 9,778,72( 6,863,63t
Total billings 9,153,16: 6,991,08:
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Retentions receivable
Advances

Prepayments and deposits
Other receivables

Trade receivablesarenonnt er e s t

bearing
provision for impairment. The movements in the provision for impairmeagainst trade receivables totalling
US$785,383,000 (2009: US$614,837,0af as follows:

and

201¢
Uss$o

785,38
26,297
179,10:
34,05¢
31,91¢
1,056,75!

200¢
US$o

614,831
8,77z
139,55(
35,14:
80,36¢

878,67(

a r e Trajereceiviakdeb dreyreported n@t®f t o

2010 2009
Specific General Specific Genera
Impairment impairment Total impairmen impairmen Total
US$o US$o US$o UsS$o US$6 USS$O
At 1 January 4,87t 1,754 6,62¢ 3,69¢ 1,29¢ 4,994
Charge for the year 2,18¢ 1,79¢ 3,98t 6,30¢ 1,32C 7,62¢
Amounts written off (2,197 (67) (2,264 (343) (198) (541)
Unused amounts reversed (1,738 (893) (2,631 (4,798 (661) (5,459
Transfers (326) 326 - - - -
Exchange difference (13) 19 6 9 3) 6
At 31 December 2,79C 2,93t 5,72t 4,87¢ 1,754 6,62¢
At 31 December, the analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Neither Number of days past due
past
due no

impairec <30 31-60 61-90 91-12C 121-360 > 360
days days days days days days Total
US$6 US$O6 US$d6 US$SO6 USS$O US$6 US$6 USS$O
Unimpaired 599,667 125,82 34,562 10,891 7,324 834 164 779,28
Impaired - 3,23C 1,08t 157 1,632 4,022 1,717 11,84¢
599,667 129,05 35,641 11,052 8,957 4,857 1,881 791,10¢
Less: impairment provision - (1,211 (391) (244) (774) (2,295, (810) (5,725,
Net trade receivables 200 599,667 127,84 35,25¢ 10,81( 8,182 2,562 1,071 785,382
Unimpaired 434,15¢  116,19: 28,83¢ 13,36¢ 3,431 5,977 2,13¢ 604,102
Impaired - 3,177 2,14¢ 386 2,51C 6,22C 2,92 17,364
434,15¢ 119,37« 30,98: 13,751 5,941 12,197 5,061 621,46¢
Less: impairment provision - (585) (243) (332) (305) (3,421 (1,743 (6,629,
Net tradereceivables 208 434,15¢  118,78¢ 30,74( 13,41¢ 5,63€ 8,77€ 3,31¢ 614,831

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is assessed by management with reference
externally prepared customer credit reports andhigteric payment track records of the counterparties.

Advances represent payment scontmetdre fortprojects im progeessnon which thehrelated r o
work had not been performed at the statement of financial position date.cFaasm in advances during 2010 relates to
new contract awards in the Engineering & Construction business partly offset by the unwinding of advances on more
mature contracts.

Included in other receivables are US$(2009: US$46,697,000) rewerablefrom venture partners on the Don assets
being their share of accrued expenses.

All trade and other receivables are expected to be settled in cash.
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Certain trade and other receivables will be settlechish usingurrencies other than the reporting currenéyhe group,

and will be largely paiih Sterling and Kuwaiti Dinars.

21 CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

201C 200¢

US$0O UsSs$6

Cash at bank and in hand 244,01¢ 203,10¢
Shortterm deposits 818,981 1,214,25!
Total cash and bank balances 1,063,00! 1,417,36.

Shortterm deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate ca
The fair value of cash &adk

requirements of the group, and earn interest at respectivetshartdeposit rates.
balances is US$1,063,005,000 (2009: US$1,417,363,000).

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

201C 200¢
USs$o US$o
Cash at bank and in hand 244,01¢ 203,10¢
Shortterm deposits 818,98’ 1,214,25!
Bank overdrafts (note 26) (28,908 (26,619
1,034,09 1,390,74-
22 SHARE CAPITAL
The share capital of the Company as at 31 December was as follows:
201C 200¢
US$6 US$6
Authorised
750,000,00@rdinary shares of US$IROeach
(2009: 750,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.025 each) 15,00C 18,75(
Issued and fully paid
** 345,715,053rdinary shares of US$0.020 each
(2009:345,532,38®rdinary shares of US$0.025 each) 6,914 8,63¢
The movement in the number of issued and fully paid ordinary shares is as follows:
Numbe|
Ordinary shares:
Ordinary shares of US$0.025 eacH. aanuary 2009 345434858
Issued during the year as further deferred consideration payable &mgphisition of a subsidiary 97,53(
Ordinary shares of US$0.025 eacH aanuary 2010 345532388
Issued during the year as further deferred consideration payable for the acquisition of subsidiaries 182,66¢
Ordinary shares of US$0.02ach aB1 December 2010 345,715,05

The share capital comprises only one class of ordinary shares. The ordinary shares carry a voting right and the right to a
dividend

** |In order to effect the demerger of the PEDL sub group to EnQihesexisting issued ordinary share capital of Petrofac
Limited was subdivided and converted into new ordinary Petrofac shares with a nominal value of US$0.02 each anc
Petrofac B shares of US$0.005 each and subsequent to this share split the B sleapmschased and cancelled in
exchange for an allotment and issue of EnQuest ordinary shares directly to holders of Petrofac B shares.
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23 TREASURY SHARES

For the purpose of making awards under its employee share s¢hiben€ompany acquires its ownasés whichare held
by the Petrofac Empl@e Benefit TrustAll these shares have been classified in the statement of financial position as
treasury shares within equity.

The movements in total treasury shares are shown below:

2010 200
Number US$6 ! Number US$ 6
At 1 January 7,210,965 56,285 9,540,306 69,333
Acquired during the year 2,122,960 36,486 - -
Vested during the year (2,576,586) (27,454) (2,329,341) (13,048)
At 31 December 6,757,339 65,317 7,210,965 56,285

During the yeab,467,852 Petrofac shares previously held in a Lehman Brothers custody account pending the finalisation
of their legal administration were released to the Employee Benefit Trust.

Shares vested during the year include dividend shares of 120,504 780830 with a cost of US$1,284,000 (2009:
US$431,000).

24  SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

Under the Performancghare Plan of the Company, share awards are granted to exedbiieetors and a restricted
number of other senior egutives of the group. The shares cliff vest at the end of three sebject to continued
employmentandthe achievement o€ertain predefined noAmarket and market based performance conditions. The non
market based conditiogoverning the vesting d0% of the totalaward is subject to achieving betweefi% and 2%
earning per share (EPS) growth targets over a three year period. The fasrofahe equitysettled award relating to the
EPS part of the schenageestimated based on the quoted clositayket price per Company share at the date of grant with
an assumed vesting rate per anrtwnit into the calculatiorfsubsequently trued wgt yearendbased on the actual leaver
rate during the period from award date to year end) over the three yeagvestiod of the planThe fair value and
assumed vesting rates of the EPS part of the scheme are shown below:

Fair value  Assumed
per share vesting rate

2010 awards 1,103¢ 95.0%
200 awards 5451 93.6%
2008 award 522 89.1%
2007 awards 415¢ 943%

The remaining 50% market performance based part of these awards is dependent on the total shareholder return (TSR)
the group compared to an index composed of selected relevant companiésr Vakie of theshares vesting under this
portion of the awards determinedy an independent valuer using a Monte Carlo simulation model taking into account the
terms and conditions of the plan rules and using the following assumptions at the date of grant

2010 200 200¢ 2007
awards awards awards awards

Expected share price volatility
(based on median of comparator 50.0% 49.0% 32.0% 29.0%

Share price correlation with comparator group 39.0% 36.0% 22.0% 17.0%
Risk-freeinterest rate 1.50% 2.10% 3.79% 5.20%
Expected life of share award 3years 3yeart 3yeart 3year
Fair value of TSR portion 7430 456¢ 287 245¢
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24  SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS

Performance Share Plan (PSRontinued)
Thefollowing shows the movement in the number of shares held under the PSP scheme outstanding but not exercisable:

201C 200¢

Number Numbe

Outstanding at 1 January 1,432,68! 1,298,80!
Granted during the year 390,27¢ 576,78(
Vested during thgear (407,316 (418,153
Forfeited during the year (65,453 (24,756
Outstanding at 31 December 1,350,18! 1,432,68!

The number of outstanding shares exclude the 8% uplift adjustment made in respect of the EnQuest(82rBérger

shares) and anylled up declared dividend§4,264shares)2009: 60,830)The 8% uplift adjustment compensated the

existing share plan holders for the loss in market value of Petrofac shares on flotation of EnQuest and employees have no
legal right to receive dividenshares until the shares ultimately vest.

The number of awards still outstanding but not exercisable at 31 December 2010 is made up of 390,278 in respect of 201(
awards (2009: nil), 538,602 in respect of 2009 awards (2009: 576,780), 421,309 in respe8tafards (2009:
431,843), and nil in respect of 2007 awards (2009: 424,057).

The charge recognised in the current year amounted $8,2@3,0002002 US$,727000.

Deferred Bonus Share Plan (DBSP)

Executive directors and selected employeegere originally eligible to participatein this schemealthough the
Remuneration Committee decided in 2007 that executive directors should no longer continue to paP#ijEpantare
required or in some cases invitethh receive a proportion ofanybers i n or di nary shares of
Awar ds” ) . F anlawaad wthe rCgmpany wilhgenerally grant the participant an additional afaredhumber of
shares bearing a specified ratio to htareesmymber of his

A change in the rules of the DBSP scheme was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Compa
on 11 May2007 such that the 2008hare awardand for any awards made thereaftbe investd and matching shares
would, unlessthe Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directdetermined otherwise, vest 33.33% on the first
anniversary of the date of graatfurther 33.33%n the second anniversary of the date of gaatthe final 33.8% of the
awardon the third anniversamyf the date of grant

At the year end the values of the bonuses settled by shares cannot be determined until all employees have confirmed t
voluntary portion of their bonus they wish to be settled by shares rather than cash and until the RemQoenatitiee

has approved the mandatory portion of the employee bonuses to be settled in shares. Once the voluntary and mandat
portions of the bonus to be settled in shamegletermined, the final bonus liability to be settled in shares is transferred t

the reserve for shaflgased payments. The costs relating to the matching shares are recognised over the relevant vestin
period and the fair values of the equitgttiedMatching Shares granted to employees are based on the quoted closing
market price ithe date of grant adjusted for the tlug percentageesting rate of the plaifhe details of the fair values

and assumed vesting rates of the DBSP scheme are below:

Fair value  Assumed
per share vesting rate

2010 awards 1,185¢ 94.4%
200 awards 545¢ 93.9%
2008 awards 522¢ 90.9%
2007 awards 415¢ 89.6%
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24  SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS (continued)

Deferred Bonus Share Plan (DBSREontinued)
Thefollowing shows the movement in the number of shares held under the DBSP scheme outstanding but not exercisable:

201C 200¢

Number* Number?

Outstanding at 1 January 4,694,19: 3,755,38:
Granted during the year 1,397,09: 2,773,02(
Vestedduring the year (1,792,895 (1,743,372
Forfeited during the year (216,079 (90,840
Outstanding at 31 December 4,082,31: 4,694,19:

* Includeslnvested an#atchingShares.

The numbers of outstanding shares exclude the 8% uplift adjustment made in respect of the EnQuest demerger (327,0
shares) and rolled up declared dividends of 184,599 (2009: 169,836).

The number of awards still outstanding but not exercisable at 31 Decet@10 is made up of 1,313,894 in respect of
2010 awards (2009: nil), 1,948,340 in respect of 2009 awards (2009: 2,696,752), 820,077 in respect of 2008 awards (200
1,237,786), and nil in respect of 2007 awards (2009: 759,653).

The charge recognised the 2010 income statemeint relation tomatching share awards amountedus$,195,000
(2009:US$8,064000.

Share Incentive Plan (SIP)

All UK employees, including UK residemirectors, are eligible to participate in the scheme. Employees may invast up
Sterling1,500 per tax year of gross salary (olpifier, 10% of salary) to purchase ordinary shares in the Company. There
is no holding period for these shares.

Restricted Share Plan (RSP)

Under the Restricted Share Placheme, selectedmployees i@ granted shares in the Company over a discretionary
vesting period which may or may not be, at the direction of the Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors, subjec
to the satisfaction of performance conditions. At present there are no pertersanditions applying to this scheme nor

is there currently any intention to introduce them in the future. The fair values of the awards granted under the plan a
various grant dates during the year are based on the quoted market price at the daie aufjgsted for an assumed
vesting rate over the relevant vesting period. For details of the fair values and assumed vesting rate of the RSP scheme,
below:

Weighted
average
fair value  Assumed
per share vesting rate

2010awards 990p 95.8%
200 awards 430¢ 69.4%
2008 awards 478t 88.0%
2007 awards 4561 943%

Thefollowing shows the movement in the number of shares held under the RSP scheme outstanding but not exercisable:

201C 200¢

Number Numbe

Outstanding at 1 January 1,082,46: 1,184,71:
Granted during the year 203,38¢ 86,43:
Vested during the year (176,360 (167,053
Forfeited during the year (105,773 (21,629
Outstanding at 31 December 1,003,71. 1,082,46:
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24  SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS (continued)

Restricted Shard’lan (RSP)(continued)
The number of outstanding shares exclude the 8% uplift adjustment made in respect of the EnQuest demerger (78,1
shares) and rolled up declared dividends of 48,474 (2009: 33,691)

The number of awards still outstanding but notreisable at 31 December 2010 is made up of 195,580 in respect of 2010
awards (2009: nil), 36,658 in respect of 2009 awards (2009: 86,432), 665,542 in respect of 2008 awards (2009: 786,826
and 105,932 in respect of 2007 awards (2009: 209,203).

During theyear the Company recognised a charge of US$2,381,000 (2009: US$2,472,000) in relation to the above.

The group has recognised a total charge d$14$784,0002009 US$13,263000 in the consolidatedncome statement

during the year relating to the abosmployee sharbased schemesdenote 4l) which has been transferred to the reserve

for sharebased payments along with US$12,750,000 of the bonus liability accrued for the year ended 31 December 200
which has been settled in shares granted during #re(2609: US$10,94Q00.

For further details on the above employee slmees ed pay ment schemes refer t o r
remuneration report.

177



25 OTHER RESERVES

Net unrealise
gaind(lossespn Net unrealise

available-for- (losses) Foreign  Reserve fc
salefinancial gains or currency sharebasec
asset: derivative:  translatior payment Total
UsSs$o UsSs$o Uss$o US$o Uss$o
Balance at 1 January 280 74 7,841 (79,415 32,20z (39,292
Foreign currency translation - - 15,087 - 15,087
Net gairs on maturity of cash flow
hedgegecycled in the year - (4,303 - - (4,303
Net changes in fair value of derivativesd financial assets
designated as cash fldvedges - 29,229 - - 29,229
Sharebased payments char@ete 24) - - - 13,26: 13,26:
Transfer during the yednote 24) - - - 10,942 10,942
Shares vested during the year (notg 2 - - - (12,617 (12,617
Deferred tax orshare based payments reserve - - - 13,08t 13,08t
Balance at Danuan2010 74 32773 (64,328 56,87t 25,394
Foreign currency translation - - (908) - (908)
Foreign currency translation recycled to consolidated income
statement in the year on EnQuest demerger (note 11) - - 45,81¢ - 45,81¢
Net gairs on maturity of cash flow
hedgegecycled in the year - (16,612) - - (16,612)
Net changes in fair value of derivativesd financial assets
designated as cash fldvedges - (18,958 - - (18,958
Net changes in fair value of availakler-sale
financial assets 70 - - - 70
Disposal of availablor-sale financial assets (74) - - - (74)
Sharebased payments char@ete 24) - - - 14,78¢ 14,78¢
Transfer during the yednote 24) - - - 12,75C 12,75C
Shares vested during the year (notg 2 - - - (26,170 (26,170
Deferred tax on share based payments reserve - - - (1,366 (1,366,
Balanceat 31 December 20 70 (2,797 (19,418 56,87¢ 34,72¢

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Net unrealised gains / (losses) on availatfte-sale financial assets

This reserve records fair value changes on avaifansale financial assets held by theup net of deferred tax effects.
Realised gains and losses on the sale of avaifabigale financial assets are recognised as other income or expenses in the
consolidated income statement.

Netunrealised gains / (losses) on derivatives

The portion ofgains or losses on cash flow hedging instruments that are determined to be effective hedges are include
within this reserve net of related deferred tax effects. When the hedged transaction occurs or is no longer forecast to occt
the gain or loss is transferred out of equity to domsolidatedincome statement. Realised net gains amounting to
US$16,764,000(2009: US$,161,000) relating to foreign currency forward contracts and financial assets designated as
cash flow hedgehavebeen recognised in cost of sales, realisedassesof US$nil (2009: US$L,47Q000l0s9 relating to

interest rate derivatives have been classified as a net interest expense and a redlissthhétS$EL52,000(2000:
US$11,000 gaipwas added to revems in respect of oil derivatise
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25 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Netunrealised gains / (losses) on derivatives (continued)

The forward currency points elememind ineffective portiorof derivative financial instruments relating to forward
currency contractand gains on the maturity of «lesignated derivativeemounting to a ndbssof US$3,409,000(2009:
US$19,508000gain) have been recognised in the cost of sales.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financi
statements in foreign subsidiaries. It is also used to record exchange differences arising on monetgt iterm part of

the group’s net investment in subsidiaries.

Reserve fosharebasedpayments

The reserve fosharebasedpayments isised to record the value of equity settled staged payments awarded to
employees anttansfers out of this reserage madeaipon vesting of the originahare awars

The transfer during the yeeaflectsthe transfer from accrued expenses within tragdother payables of the bonus
liability relating to the year ende2D090of US$12,750,0002008 bonus of US$0,942000 which has beewmoluntarily
electedor mandatorily obligedo be settled in shares during the year (ndje 2

26 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

The group had the following interelseéaring loans and borrowings outstanding:

31 December 2D 31 December 2(D Effective
Actual interest Actual interest interest rate% Maturity 2010 2000
rate% rate%
US$6 USS$O
Current
Revolving credit facility 0] n/a US LIBOR + 1.50% US LIBOR +1.50% - - 20,00¢
Bank overdrafts (ii) UK LIBOR + UK LIBOR + UK LIBOR +
1.50%, US LIBOR 1.50%, US LIBOR  1.50%, US LIBOR
+1.50% + 1.50% +1.50% on demanc 28,90¢ 26,61¢
Other loans:
Current portion of term (i) US/UK LIBOR + US/UK LIBOR + 3.26% to4.1%%
loan 087%% 0.875% (2009: 3.14% to 14,241 10,48¢
3.71%)
Current portion of term  (iv) US/UK LIBOR + US/UK LIBOR + 2.01% t03.91%
loan 087%% 0.875% (2009: 2.65% to 4,28¢ 963
3.44%)
47,43¢ 58,071
Non-current
Term loan (iv) US/UK LIBOR + US/UK LIBOR + 2.01% t03.91% 20102013 13,80¢ 18,291
087% 0.875% (2009: 2.65% to
3.44%)
Term loan (iii) US/UK LIBOR + US/UK LIBOR + 3.286 t04.1%% 20102013 30,57¢ 46,694
0.875% 0.875% (2009: 3.14% to
3.71%)
44,38t 64,98t
Less:
Debt acquisition costs net of accumule
amortisation and effective rate adjustment (4,159 (5,790
40,22¢ 59,19t
Detail s of t {bearing loamsiand bsrrowimgs ageras fellows:

(i) Revolving credit facility
This facility has beemepad on 31 December 2010.

(il) Bank overdrafts
Bank overdrafts are drawn down i n US doll ars and St
requirements. These are repayable on demand.
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26 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

(iii) Term loan

This term loan at 31 DecemberX@comprised drawings of U28,057000 (200@: US$28,877,000) denominated in US$

and US®1,76Q000 (20®@: US$28,306,000) denominated in Sterling. Both elements of the loan are repayable over a
period ofthreeyears ending 30 September 2013.

(iv) Term loan

This term loan is to be repaid over a period of three years ending 30 September 2013. The dra&dibgeamber 21D
comprised US$1203000 (20®@: US$13,900,000) denominated in US$ and 48%$2000 (20@: US$,354000)
denominated in Sterling.

The group’s credit facilities and debt agr e eovee.mMbreofc ont

the Company’s subsidiaries is subject to any materi al
dividends, loans or advances to the Company.

27 PROVISIONS

Other long term Provision foi

employmer Provision foi insurance
benefits provisio decommissionir claims Total
USs$o Uss$o Uss$o Uss$o
At 1 January 2010 34,13( 57,97: - 92,10t
Additions during the year 12,77(C 984 1,561 15,31¢
Don assets demerger (ndte) - (55,967 - (55,967
Unused amounts reversed/paid in the year (6,696 (90) - (6,786
Unwinding of discount - 776 - 776
At 31 December 2010 40,20¢ 3,67¢€ 1,561 45,441

Other long term employment benefits provision

Labour laws in certain countries in which the group operates require employers to provide for othemioaignployment
benefits. These benefits are payable to employwedeing transferred to another jurisdiction or on cessation of
employment.

Provision for decommissioning

The decommissioning provision primarily relatestogheug s obl i gati on for the removal
the site at the PM304 field in Malaysaadat Chergui in Tunisia. The liability is discounted at thgerof3.80% on PM304

(2000: 3.80%), 5.253% on Chergu(2009: 5.2%%) and nil% (2009: 4.50%) on demerged Don assdis. inwinding of the
discount is classified as finance cost (note 5). Jioeipestimates that the cash outflows against these provisions will arise

in 2014on PM304andin 2018on Chergui

Provision for insurance claims
The provision for insurance claims relates to the amount set aside to cover potential future insuranceaitatrheg
groupwhich will be settled by theaptive insurance company Jermyn Insurance Company Limited.
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28 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

201C 200¢
US$6 US$0

Other financial liabilities - non-current
Deferred consideratiopayable 11,27¢ 27,43¢
Fair value of derivative instruments (note 33) 174 -
Other - 47
11,45:% 27,48¢

Other financial liabilities i current

Deferred consideratiopayable 24,59 1,622
Interest payable 9 22
Fair value of derivative instruments (note 33) 12,19 1,81<
Other 253 177
37,054 3,634

Included in deferred consideration payable abowsmount payable of US$918,000 (2009: US$,890,000 relating to
the group’s purchase of a floating plabhtogmoapdsUB#&@6Ge
associate (note 14).

29 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

201C 200¢

US$6 US$5o

Restate:

Trade payables 278,38 292,414
Advances received from customers 412,04« 379,68¢
Accrued expenses 251,51: 260,290
Othertaxes payable 12,75¢ 14,69¢
Other payables 66,742 29,930
1,021,43 977,017

Trade payables are nomterest bearing and are normally settled on terms of between 30 and 60 days.

Advances from customers represent payments received for contragtgatnthe related work had not been performed at
the statement of financial position date.

Included in other payables are retentions held against subcontractors of US$6,170,000 (2009: US$938,000). Also include
in other payables above is U$11,969,000 detkrevenue relating to the provision of services required to earn the right to
subscribe for the addition8even Energyarrantgnote 16).

Certain trade and other payables will be settled in currencies other than the reporting currency of theagnbupm m
Sterling, Euros and Kuwaiti Dinars.

30 ACCRUED CONTRACT EXPENSES

201C 200¢

US$06 US$6

Accrued contract expenses 1,272,94. 832,50:
Reserve for contract losses 2,52¢ 4,152
1,275,46" 836,65¢

The reserve for contract losge€o cover costs in excess of revenues on certain contracts.
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31 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

In the normal course of business the group will obtain surety bonds, letters of credit and guarantees, which are
contractually required to se performance, advance payment or in lieu of retentions being withheld. Some of these
facilities are secured by issue of corporate guarantees by the Company in favour of the issuing banks.

At 31 December 2010, the group had letters of credit of US$2)08 (2009: US$91,042,000) and outstanding letters of
guarantee, including performance, advance payments and bid bonds, of US$2,951,553,000 (2009: US$2,124,134,00
against which the group had pledged or restricted cash balances of, in agiif§§a9462,000 (2009: US$675,000.

At 31 December 2010, the group had outstanding forward exchange contracts amountirfgl&8,%63,000 (2009:
US$351,803000. These commitments consist of future obligations to either acquire or sell designated amfoueigno
currency at agreed rates and value dates (note 33).

Leases

The group has financial commitments in respect ofcemcellable operating leases for office space and equipment. These
nortcancellable leases have remaining 4ancellable leaseerms of between one and seventeen years and, for certain
property leases, are subject to renegotiation at various intervals as specified in the lease agreements. The future minimt
rental commitments under these nmancellable leases are as follows:

2010 200

US$6 US$0

Within one year 18,031 35,79¢
After one year but not more than five years 41,23¢ 57,12i
More than five years 76,91¢ 73,03(
136,18¢ 165,95!

Included in the above are commitments relating to the lease of an lmffiding extension in Aberdeen, United Kingdom

of US$49,232,0002000: US$39,735000, lease of mobile operating production unit and floating storage and offloading
unit US$15,619,000 (2009: US$35,665,000)Block PM304, offshore Malaysiand mobiledrilling rig for the Don
Southwest project of USSI (2009: US$L0,089000).

Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense during the year ambl8%a%)625,000(2000:
US$33,063,00).

Capital commitments

At 31 December 2010, theaup had capital commitments of UE%416,000 (2009: US$18,786,000) excluding the above
lease commitments.

Included in the above are commitmetdgefurbish the floating production, storage and offloading unit for East Fortune of
US$52,800,000 (2009: &5 nil), further appraisal and development of wells as part of the Cendor project in Malaysia
amounting to US$7,269,000 (2009: US$14,572,0@@mmitments in respect of the Ticleni Production Enhancement
contract in Romania US$21,046,000 (2009: US$anif) commitments in respect of IT projects of US$9,281,000 (2009:
US$ 3,300,000).
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Petrofac Limited and the subsidiaries listed il
note 35. Petrofatimited is the ultimate parent entity of the group.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with related parties:

Sales to relate  Purchases frot Amounts owe Amounts owe

parties  related partie:  byrelated partie: to related partie

UsS$o UsSs$o UsS$6o US$6

Joint ventures 2010 101,37( 88,79¢ 327 11,09¢
2009 27,33 15,43¢ 17,77: 56,92t

Key management 2010 - 1,68¢ - 612
personnel interests 2009 - 1,40¢ 487 401

All sales to and purchases from joint ventures are made at normal market prices and the pricing policies and terms of the
transactions are approved by the group’s management .

All related party balances will be settled in cash.

Purchases in respect of kmanagement personnel interest&JS$L,601,000 (2009: US$1,336,000) reflect the market rate
basedcosts of chartering the services of aeroplanaused for the transport of senior management direttors d the
groupon companybusinesswhich isowned byan offshore trusdf which theGroupChief Executive of the Comparny a
beneficiay.

Also included in purchases in respect of key management personnel intet3$8i5,000(2009: US$ 69,000) relating to
client entertainment provided by a businespoevd by a member of the group’s key

Amounts owedy key management personnel comprises of a temporary Idd8%nil (2009: US$ 487,000) provided in
respect of income tax payable on vesting of Restricted Share Plan shares pending dishasas ¢6 sneet this liability
once the close period for trading Petrofac shares ends.

Compensation of key management personnel
The following details remuneration of key management personnel of the group comprising of executive et uive

directors of the Company and other senior personnel. Further information relating to the individual directors is provided in
the directors r e mu n er a pdgesl®ltale3p or t on

201C 200¢

USs$6 UsS$o

Shortterm employee benefits 11,87( 11,20¢
Other longterm employment benefits 142 129
Sharebased payments 3,827 3,36¢
Fees paid to neaxecutive directors 581 506
16,42( 15,212
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33 RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Risk management objectives and policies

The group’s principal financi al asset s -fonsdle flnanciah asseis,t i e
trade and othereceivables, amounts due from/to related parties, cash anetestmrtieposits, workn-progress, interest
bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and deferred consideration.

The group’s activities ex pguasyeassoctated with inteaestirateuisk orfits vaaable rata |
cash and shoterm deposits, loans and borrowings and foreign currency risk on both conducting business in currencies
other than reporting currency as well as translation of the assetsaaililids of foreign operations to the reporting
currency. These risks are managed from time to time by using a combination of various derivative instruments, principally
interest rate swaps, caps and f or waimgdgoliges.rTheegnoapyhasaalidyr a c
not to enter into speculative trading of financial derivatives.

The Board of Directors of the Company has established an Audit Committee and Risk Committee to help identify, evaluat
and manage the significant finaalcrisks faced by the group and their activities are discussed in detail on page3378

The other main risks besides interest rate and foreign
risk, liquidity risk and commoditprice risk and the policies relating to these risks are discussed in detail below:

Interest rate risk

I nterest rate risk arises from the possibility -beahirgt ch
financial liabilites and assets.

The group’s exposure to market risk arising freemchar
variable rate debt obligations and its cash andalmank b
of fixed and variable rate defith e group’s cash and bank balances are at

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The i mpact 0 n-taxt ploft and equity plue 20 apeaasonably possible change in interest ratesnsrand

borrowings at the reporting date is demonstrated in the table below. The analysis assumes that all other variables reme
constant.

Pre-tax profit Equity
100 basis 100 basis 100 basis 100 basis
point point point point
increase decrease increase decrease
US$0o! US$06! US$0! US$0!
31 December 200 (710 710 - -
31 December 20D (1,096) 1,096 - -

The following table reflects the maturity profile of these financial liabilities and assets:
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33 RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2010
Within 1-2 2-3 34 4-5  More thar
1 yeal years years years years 5 year: Total
USs$o Usso Usso Usso Usso UsSs$o UsSs$o
Financial liabilities
Floating rates

Bank overdrafts (note 26) 28,90¢ - - - - - 28,90¢
Term loans (note 26) 18,527 23,82% 20,562 - - - 62,912
47,43% 23,828 20,562 - - - 91,82(

Financial assets
Floating rates

Cash andhortterm deposits (note 21) 1,063,00! - - - - - 1,063,00!
Restricted cash balances (note 17) 19,19¢ 266 19,46:
1,082,20: 266 - - - - 1,082,46°
Year ended 31 December 2009
Within 1-2 2-3 34 4-5  More thar
1 yeal years years years years 5years Total

US$o6 US$o US$o US$o US$o Uss$o Uss$o
Financial liabilities
Floating rates

Revolving credit facility (note 26) 20,00( - - - - - 20,00(
Bank overdrafts (note 26) 26,61¢ - - - - - 26,61¢
Term loans (note 26) 11,452 18,901 24,221 21,862 - - 76,437

58,071 18,901 24,221 21,86 - - 123,05¢

Financial assets
Floating rates

Cash and shoterm deposits (note 21) 1,417,36: - - - - - 1,417,36:
Restricted cash balances (note 17) 7,431 226 - - - 2,654 10,311
1,424,79: 226 - - - 2,654 1,427,67:

Financial liabilities in the above table are disclosed gross of debt acquisition costs and effective rate adjustments
US$4,159,000 (2009: US$5,790,000).

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating ratesiced at intervals of less than one year. The other financial
instruments of the group that are not included in the above tables aieter@st bearing and are therefore not subject to
interest rate risk.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2010, the group held no derivative instruments, designated as cash flow hedges in relation to floating rat
interestbearing loans and borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases, and translation of assets and liabilities that are in
currency other than the functional currency of its operating units. The group is also exposed to the translation of the
functional arrencies of its units to the US dollar reporting currency of the group. The following table summarises the

percentage of foreign currency denominated revenues, costs, financial assets and financial liabilities, expressed in U
dollar terms, of the grougtals.
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33

Foreign currency risk (continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2010 2009
% of foreign % of foreign
currency currency
denominated denominated
items items
Revenues 41.6% 39.5%
Costs 62.2% 50.1%
Current financial assets 34.8% 35.3%
Non-current financial assets 0.0% 1.0%
Current financial liabilities 51.2% 42.3%
Non-current financial liabilities 59.4% 34.6%

The group uses forward currency contracts to manage the currency exposure on trassgiciicast to its operations. It

is the group’s policy n antlathighlyenmntade fordcastttransattiorr isvia plate ansbto t r
negotiatethe terms of the derivative instruments used for hedging to match the terms of the hedged item to maximise
hedge effectiveness.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The income statements of foreign operations are translated into the repartiegcy using a weighted average exchange

rate of conversion. Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate at the reporting date. Revenu
and costs in currencies other than the functional currency of an operating unit aredretdhdeprevailing rate at the date

of the transaction. The following significant exchange rates applied during the year in relation to US dollars:

2010 2009
Average Closing Average Closing
rate rate rate rate
Sterling 1.54 1.56 1.56 1.62
Kuwaiti Dinar 3.49 3.55 3.47 3.48
Euro 1.32 1.34 1.40 1.44

The following tabl e summa r-tasdit ardhleguity i(dmpta changeamthe tfair galugyaf o u
monetary assets, liabilities and derivative instruments) of a reasgmadsible change in US dollar exchange rates with
respect to different currencies:

Pre-tax profit Equity
+10% US -5% US +10% US -5% US
dollar rate dollar rate dollar rate dollar rate
increase decrease increase  decrease
USS$0o! US$06! US$6r USS0O!
31 December 200 (3,750) 1,875 6,272 (3,136)
31 December 20D (10,238) 5,141 7,980 (3,990)
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33 RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)
Derivative instruments undesignated andesignated as cash flow hedges

At 31 December 2010, the group had foreign exchange forward contracts as follows:

Net unrealised

Contract value Fair value (undesignated) Fair value(designated) gain/(loss)
201C 200¢ 201C 200¢ 201C 200¢ 201C 200¢
US$0 Uss$o Usso Uss$o UsSs$o Uss$o Usso Uss$o
Euro currency purchases 171,07 101,90¢ (1,794, 5,017 (2,046, 24,47¢ (1,827, 28,43(
Sterling currency purchases 14,40¢ 38,70 (135) - 1,582 4,70¢ 1,69t 4,96€
Yen currencypurchasegsales) 1,721 (160) 128 - 76 (942) 117 (862)
Swiss Francpurchases 1,362 - - - 175 - 14 -
Kuwaiti Dinars sales - (211,034 - 53 - (1,349 - 266
1) 32,80

The above foreign exchange contracts mature and will affect income between January 2011 and July 2013 (2009: betwe
January 2010 and July 2013).

At 31 December 2010, the group had cash and-sbort deposits designated as cash flow hedges with aaflaie Yoss of
US$1,633,000 (2009: US$1,786,000 gain) as follows:
Net unrealised

Fair value gain/(loss)
201C 2009 201C 200
US$6 USs$o USsSs$o US$o
Euro currencycash and shotterm deposits 15,73( 91,66( (1,798 1,165
Sterling currencygash and shoterm deposits 2,08¢ 5,264 (120) 772
Yen currencycash and shotterm deposits 4,51C - 278 -
Swiss Francs cash and shtetm deposits 660 - 7 -
Kuwaiti Dinars cash and shetérm deposits - 19,14¢ - (149)
(1,633 1,78€

During 2010, changes in fair value loss of US$19,456,000 (2@33:US$28,043,000) relating to these derivative
instruments and financial assets were taken to equity and US$16,764,000 gain (2009: US$5,161,000 gain) were recycle
from equity into cost of sales in the income statement. The forward points and ineffectiva pbthe above foreign
exchange forward contracts and loss on maturity efl@esignated derivatives of US$3,409,000 (2009: US$19,508,000
gains) was recognised in the income statement (note 4b).

Commodity price risk T oil prices

The group is exposed the impact othanges in 0i& gasprices on its revenues and profits generated frons sélerude

ol &gas The group’s policy is to manage its exposure to t
instruments, primarily swaps andllems. Hedging is only undertaken once sufficiently reliable and regular long term
forecast production data is available.

During the year the group entered into various crude oil swaps hedging oil productié,4®0 bbl (200996,000 bbj
with maturities ranging from Rpril 2010 to 31 December 201 In addition, fuel oil swaps were also entered into for
hedging gas production df3,750MT (200927,000MT) with maturities from 1April 2010to 31 December 21

The fair value of oil derivives at 31 December 2010 was US$1,163,000 liability (2009: US$1,813,000 liability) with a
loss recognised in equity of US$1,163,000 (2009: US$1,813,000 loss). During the year, a loss of US$152,000 (2009:
US$611,000 gain) was recognised in the consolidatmme statement on the occurrence of the hedged transactions.
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33 RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Commodity price risk T oil prices (continued)

The following tabl e s umma rtax prefisand equitydue tofa ahartge i the fdir katue af oilo u p
derivative instruments and the underlifting asset/overlifting liability) of a reasonably possible change in the oil price:

Pre-tax profit Equity
+10 US$/bbl -10 US$/bbl +10 US$/bbl -10 US$/bbl
increase decrease increase decrease
US$06! US$0! US$06! US$0!
31 December 200 (194) 194 (802) 802
31 December 2D 82 (82) (861) 861

Credit risk

The group trades only with recognisededitworthy third partiedBusiness Unit Risk Review Committees (BURRC) have
been set up by the Board of Directors to evaluate the creditworthiness of each individual third party at the time of entering
into new contracts. Limits have been placed onapgroval authority of the BURRC above which the approval of the
Board of Directors of the Company is required. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with appropriat
follow-up action taken where necessatyt 31 De c e mb e r fi Grhdst custorhees accounted for 72.0% of
outstanding trade receivables and work in progress (2009: 57.5%).

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the group, which comprise cash and cash equivalent:
availablefor-salef i nanci al assets and certain derivative instrun
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

The group’ s o0 hajna batance leetwees comtiouityrofafundirtg and flexibility through the use of overdrafts,
revolving credit facilities, project finance and term loans to reduce its exposure to liquidity risk. The maturity pirofiles o
the group’s f i &Becamben2010laie aslfallows:t i es at 3

Year ended 31 December 2010

Contractua
6 month: 6-12 1-2 2-5 More thar undiscounte Carrying
or less month: years years 5 year: cash flow: amoun

US$6 US$6 Uss$o Uss$o USs$6 USs$o UsSs$o
Financial liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings 37,776 9,65¢ 23,82: 20562 - 91,82( 87,661
Trade and other payables (excluding adva 551,23: 58,15¢ - - - 609,397 609,392
from customers)
Due to related parties 11,71C - - - - 11,71C 11,71C
Deferred consideration 24,595 - 11,279 - - 35874 35,874
Derivative instruments 11,03¢ 1,162 174 - - 12,371 12,371
Interest payable 9 - - - - 9 9
Interest pagnents 421 388 632 206 - 1,647 -

636,77¢ 69,36¢ 35,90¢ 20,76¢ - 762,827 757,015
Year ended 31 December 2009

Contractua
6 month: 6-12 1-2 2-5 More thar undiscounte Carrying
or less month: years years 5 years cash flow: amoun

USs$o6 USs$o6 Usso Usso USs$o6 USs$6 Uss$o
Financial liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings 31,86: 26,20¢ 18,901 46,08 - 123,05¢ 117,26¢
Trade and other payables (excluding adva 585,49( 11,84: - - - 597,33: 597,33:
from customers)
Due to related parties 44,49¢ 12,83( - - - 57,32¢ 57,32¢
Deferred consideration 1,62z - 20,51¢ 11,35¢€ - 33,497 29,06(
Derivative instruments 907 906 - - - 1,81z 1,815
Interest payable 22 - - - - 22 22
Interest pagnents 816 1,14¢ 2,094 2,291 - 6,34¢ -

665,21¢ 52,93t 41,514 59,731 - 819,39¢ 802,82(

33 RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
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The group uses various funded facilities provided by banks and its own financial assets to fund the above mentione
financial liabilities.

Capital management
The group’s policy i s t oustafutare growth and maximiae sharelgolder safue. t a | b a

The group seeks to optimise shareholder returns by maintaining a balance between debt and capital and monitors t

efficiency of its capital structure on a regular basis. The gearing ratioand retursch ar e hol der s’ equi t
201C 200¢
US$6 US$6
Restate:
+
Cash and sheoterm deposits 1,063,00! 1,417,36:.
Interestbearing loans and borrowings (A) (87,661 (117,266
Net cash (B) 975,34« 1,300,09
Equity attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholdge} 776,46 894,71(
Profit for the year attributable to Petrofac Limited shareholders (D) 557,817 353,60:¢
Gross gearing ratio (A/C) 11.3% 13.1%
Net gearing ratio (B/C) Net cast Netcast
position positior
Sharehol ders’ return on investment (DJ/ 71.8% 39.5%
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of the group’s financi al instruments a
financial position are set out below:
Carrying amount Fair value
201C 200 201C 2009
US$06 USS$SO US$06 USS$SO
Financial assets
Cash and shotkerm deposits 1,063,00! 1,417,36: 1,063,00! 1,417,36.
Restricted cash 19,46: 10,311 19,46: 10,311
Availablefor-sale financial assets 101,49¢ 539 101,49 538
Seven Energy warrants 11,96¢ - 11,96¢ -
Forwardcurrency contractdesignated as cash flow hedge 7,961 26,891 7,961 26,891
Forward currency contractsndesignated 1,234 5,07C 1,234 5,07(
Financial liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings 87,661 117,26¢ 87,661 117,26¢
Deferredconsideration 35,87¢ 30,17¢ 35,87¢ 30,17¢
Oil derivative 1,165 1,81:< 1,165 1,81c
Forward currency contractiesignated as cash flow hedge 8,17:¢ - 8,17:¢ -
Forward currency contractsndesignated 3,03t - 3,03¢ -
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33 RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Market values have been used to determine the fair values of avddedske financial assets, forward currency contracts
and oi l derivati es. S e ¥ leean c&laulated qising avBlack Schokes optiorf valuation madél u ¢
(note 16). The fair values of loftigrm interesbearing loans and borrowings are equivalent to their amortised costs
determined as the present value of discounted future cash flows usirfiptiize interest rate. The Company considers

that the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables;iwgtogress, trade and other payables, other current and non
current financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values and are taerettuded from the above table.

Fair value hierarchy

The following financial instruments are measured at fair value using the hierarchy beloweforimigion and disclosure
of their respective fair values:

Tier 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in activarkets for identical financial assets or liabilities
Tier 2: Other valuation techniques where the inputs are based on all observation data (directly or indirectly)
Tier 3: Other valuation techniques where the inputs are based on unobservable market data

Assets measured at fair value

Year ended 31 December 2010
Tier 1 Tier 2 2010
US$6 US$6 US$o6
Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 243 101,25! 101,49¢
Seven Energy warrants - 11,96¢ 11,96¢
Forward currencgontractsdesignated as cash flow hedge - 7,961 7,961
Forward currency contractsndesignated - 1,234 1,234

Financial liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings

87,661 87,661

Forward currency contractiesignated as cash flow hedge - 8,172 8,173
Forward currency contractesndesignated - 3,03¢ 3,03t
Oil derivative - 1,165 1,163

Year ended 31 December 2009
Tier 1 Tier 2 2000
US$6 USS$S06 USS$SO
Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets - 539 539
Forwardcurrency contractdesignated as cash flow hedge - 26,891 26,891
Forward currency contractsdesignated - 5,07C 5,07C

Financial liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings - 117,26¢ 117,26¢
Oil derivative - 1,815 1,81:

34 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On 31 January2011, Energy Developments signed a risk sharing contract (RSC) to lead the development of the Berantal
field, offshore Peninsular Malaysia for Petronas, the Malaysian national oil company. Petrofac has 50% intef@StGn the
alongside our two local partners who each hold a 25% interest and the joint venture will develop the field and subsequentl
operate it for seven years after first gas production. As part of the fast track development of the field, the group ha:
commited as at 31 December 2010 to acquire an FPSO vessel which will be jointly owned by Berantai joint venture
partners (see note 31 for details).
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35 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES

At 31 December 2010, the group had investments in the follosvibgidiaries and incorporated joint ventures:

Name of company
Trading subsidiaries

Petrofac Inc.

Petrofadnternational Ltd

Petrofac Energy Development UK Limited

Petrofac Energy Developments Limited

Petrofac Energy Developments International Limited
Petrofac UK Holdings Limited

Petrofac Facilities Management International Limitec
Petrofac Services Limited

Petrofac Services Inc.

Petrofac Training International Limited
Petroleum Facilities E & C Limited
PetrofacESOP Trustees Limited
Jermyn Insurance Company Limited
Atlantic Resourcing Limited

Petrofac Algeria EURL

Petrofac Engineering India Private Limited

Petrofac Engineering Services India Private Limited
Petrofac Engineering Limited

Petrofac Offshore Management Limited

Petrofac FZE

Petrofac Facilities Management Groimited
Petrofac Facilities Management Limited
Petrofac International Nigeria Ltd

Petrofac Pars (PJSC)
Petrofac Iran (PJSC)

Plant Asset Management Limited
Petrofac Nuigini Limited

PFMAP Sendirian Berhad
Petrofac Caspian Limited
Petrofac (Malaysid®M304) Limited
Petrofac Training Group Limited
Petrofac Trainingdoldings Limited
Petrofac Training Limited

Petrofac Training Inc.

Petrofac Training (Trinidad) Limited
Monsoon Shipmanagement Limited
Petrofac E&C International Limited
Petrofac Saudi Arabia Limited

Petrofac Energy Developments

Limited

Petrofac Energy Developments (Ohanet) LLC

PEDL Limited

Petrofac (Cyprus)imited
PKT Technical Services Ltd
PKT Training Services Ltd

Pt PCI Indonesia

Petrofac Training Institute Pte Limited
Petrofac Training Sdn Bhd

* Directly held by Petrofac Limited

(Ohanet) Jer

Country of incorporation

USA

Jersey
England
England
Jersey
England
Jersey
England
USA

Jersey
Jersey
Jersey
Guernsey
Scotland
Algeria

India

India
England
Jersey
United Arab Emirates
Scotland
Scotland
Nigeria

Iran

Iran
Scotland
Papua New Guinea
Malaysia
Azerbaijan
England
Scotland
Scotland
Scotland
USA
Trinidad
Jersey
United Arab Emirates
Saudi Arabia
Jersey

USA
England
Cyprus
Russia
Russia
Indonesia
Singapore
Malaysia

**C ompanies consolidated as subsidiaries on the basis of control.

Proportion of hominal
value of issued shares

controlled by the group

2010 2009
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 -
- *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 *100
*100 -
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
**50 **50
100 100
80 80
100 100
100 100
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35 SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Name of company
Trading subsidiaries (continued)

Sakhalin Technical Training Centre

Petrofac Norge AS

SPD Group Limited

SPD UK Limited

SPD LLC

Petrofac Energy Developments Ocieahimited
PT. Petrofac IKPT International

Petrofac Kazakhstan Limited

Petrofac International (UAE) LLC

Petrofac E&COman LLC

Petrofac International South Africa (Pty) Limited
Eclipse Petroleum Technology Limited
Eclipse Petroleum Technology Inc

Caltec Limited

i Perform Limited

Petrofac FPF1Limited

Petrofac Platform Management Services Limited
Petrokyrgyzstan Limited

Scotvalve Services Limited

Stephen Gillespie Consultants Limited
CO2DeepStore Limited

CO2DeepStore Holdings Limited
CO2DeepStore (Aspen) Limited

TNEI Services Limited

Petrofac E&C Sdn Bhd

Petrofac FPSO Holding Limited

The NewEnergy Industries Limited

Petrofac Information Services Private Limited
Petrofac Solutions & Facilities Support S.R.L

Joint Ventures

Costain Petrofac Limited

Kyrgyz Petroleum Company

MJVI Sendirian Berhad

Spie Capag Petrofac International Limited
TTE Petrofac Limited

Petrofac Emirates LLC

Dormant subsidiaries

Joint Venturdnternational Limited
Montrose Park Hotels Limited

RGIT Ethos Health & Safety Limited
Scota Limited

Monsoon Shipmanagement Limited
Rubicon Response Limited

Country of incorporation

Russia

Norway

British Virgin Islands
Scotland

United ArabEmirates
Cayman Islands
Indonesia

England

United Arab Emirates
Oman

South Africa
England

United States
England

Scotland

Jersey

Jersey

Jersey

Scotland

Scotland

Scotland

Jersey

England

England

Malaysia

Jersey

England

India

Romania

England

Kyrgyz Republic
Brunei

Jersey

Jersey

United Arab Emirates

Scotland
Scotland
Scotland
Scotland
Cyprus

Scotland

**C ompanies consolidated as subsidiaries on the basis of control.

Proportion of nominal
value of issued shares
controlled bythe group

2010

80
100
51
51
**25

51
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

50
50
50
50
50
*+49

100
100
100
100
100
100

2009

80
100

51

51

**25

100

51
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

50
50
50
50
50
*+49

100
100
100
100
100
100
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Petrofac Limited

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
At 31 December 2010

OIL AND GAS RESERVES (UNAUDITED)

Europe Africa South Total
East Asia

Oil & Oil & Gas Oil & Oil & Gas Oll

NGLs NGLs NGLs NGLs equivalent

mmbbl mmbbl bcf mmbbl mmbbl bef mmboe
Proven reserves
At 1 January 200
Developed 34 14 19.3 3.6 8.4 19.3 11.8
Undeveloped 9.7 - 0.5 - 9.7 0.5 9.7
Proven 13.1 14 19.8 3.6 18.1 19.8 215
Changes during the year
Revisions - 0.2) 8.2 (0.4) (0.5) 8.2 0.9
Additions - - 1.6 8.9 8.9 1.6 9.1
Divestments (12.6) - - - (12.6) - (12.6)
Production (0.5) (0.5) (4.6) (1.1) (2.1) (4.6) (2.8)
At 31 December 200
Developed - 0.8 234 21 2.9 234 7.0
Undeveloped - - 1.6 8.9 8.9 1.6 9.1
Proven - 0.8 25.0 11.0 11.8 25.0 16.1
Probable reserves
At 1 Januarn2010 6.4 - 6.2 0.5 6.9 6.2 8.1
Changes during the year
Revisions - - (3.3) 0.4 0.4 3.3) (0.1)
Additions - - 14 04 04 14 0.5
Divestments (6.4) - - - (6.4) - (6.4)
Production - - - - - - -
At 31 December 200 - - 4.3 13 13 4.3 2.1
Total proven & probable reserves
At 1 January 200 195 14 26.0 4.1 25.0 26.0 29.6
Changes during the year:
Revisions - (0.2) 4.9 - (0.1) 4.9 0.8
Additions - - 3.0 9.3 9.3 3.0 9.6
Divestments (19.0) - - - (19.0) - (19.0)
Production (0.5) (0.5) (4.6) (1.1) (2.1) (4.6) (2.8)
At 31 December 200 - 0.8 29.3 12.3 13.1 29.3 18.2
Notes

T These estimates of reserves andauditephya pompetedt, indegpendet ¢hirdg r
party based on the guidelines of the Petroleum Resources Management System (sponsored by the Society
Petroleum Engineers, the World Petroleum Council, the American Association of Petroleum Geologists and th
Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers).

1 The reserves presented are the net entittement volumes attributable to the company, under the terms of releva
production sharing contracts and assuming future oil prices equivalent to US$75 per barrel (Brent).

1 For the purpose of calculating oil equivatietotal reserves, volumes of natural gas have been converted to oil
equivalent volumes at the rate of 5,800 standard cubic feet of gas per barrel of oil.

1 The Europe geographical segment contains reserves attributable to the Don Fields, which werefidinestes
company in April 2010.
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